

COMPARISON OF HOME-BASED AEROBIC VS. HOME-BASED RESISTANCE EXERCISE IN OLDER PERSONS WITH MILD COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT

KITSANA KROOTNARK

Graduate School Srinakharinwirot University

2023

การเปรียบเทียบการออกกำลังกายแบบแอโรบิคที่บ้านกับการออกกำลังกาย โดยใช้แรงต้านที่บ้านในผู้สูงอายุที่มีภาวะความสามารถของสมองบกพร่องเล็กน้อย



ปริญญานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตร ปรัชญาดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชากายภาพบำบัด คณะกายภาพบำบัด มหาวิทยาลัยศรีนครินทรวิโรฒ ปีการศึกษา 2566 ลิขสิทธิ์ของมหาวิทยาลัยศรีนครินทรวิโรฒ COMPARISON OF HOME-BASED AEROBIC VS. HOME-BASED RESISTANCE EXERCISE IN OLDER PERSONS WITH MILD COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

(Physical Therapy)

Faculty of Physical Therapy, Srinakharinwirot University

2023

Copyright of Srinakharinwirot University

THE DISSERTATION TITLED

COMPARISON OF HOME-BASED AEROBIC VS. HOME-BASED RESISTANCE EXERCISE IN OLDER PERSONS WITH MILD COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT

ΒY

KITSANA KROOTNARK

HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN PHYSICAL THERAPY AT SRINAKHARINWIROT UNIVERSITY

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Chatchai Ekpanyaskul, MD.)

Dean of Graduate School

ORAL DEFENSE COMMITTEE

Major-advisor	Chair
(Assoc. Prof. Dr.Rumpa Boonsinsukh)	(Assoc. Prof. Dr.Plaiwan Suttanon)
(Asst. Prof. Dr.Nithinun Chaikeeree)	(Asst. Prof. Dr.Saitida Lapanantasin)
	Committee

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Jirabhorn Wannapakhe)

Title	COMPARISON OF HOME-BASED AEROBIC VS. HOME-BASED RESISTANCE
	EXERCISE IN OLDER PERSONS WITH MILD COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT
Author	KITSANA KROOTNARK
Degree	DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY
Academic Year	2023
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor Dr. Rumpa Boonsinsukh
Co Advisor	Assistant Professor Dr. Nithinun Chaikeeree

Objective: to investigate the effect of home-based exercise on various domains of cognitive function and physical performance in persons with MCI, by comparing three groups: aerobic exercise, resistance exercise and control group. Methods: This study was a single-blind randomized controlled trial. Ninety eligible participants, aged 60-80 years were randomly assigned to one of 30 people from three categories: aerobic exercise, resistance exercise or control group. The aerobic and resistance exercise groups received three months of home-based exercise (35 minutes/day including warm up and cool down, five days/week, and increased by five minutes every two weeks). The control group was asked to perform their usual daily activities. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (Thai version) (MoCA), Trail making test part A and B (TMT-A, TMT-B), Stroop color and word test (SCWT), a Digit span test (DST), a Stick design test (SDT), a Timed up and go test with manual task (TUG-M), a 6-minute walk test (6MWT) and a 30-second chair stand test were collected before training and after one, two and three months of training and a three-month followup. Results: Both aerobic and resistance groups showed significant improvements in all outcome measures during three-month post-training and follow-up, except SDT, while there was no cognitive improvement in control group at post-training and follow-up. When compared to the control group, aerobic group had significant improvements in MoCA, TMT-A, TMT-B and SCWT, while resistance group had significant improvements in MoCA and TMT-B at post-training and follow-up. However, there were no differences in any outcome measures between aerobic and resistance groups, except SCWT and 6MWT, which was significantly greater in the aerobic group than in the resistance group post-training. Additionally, both the aerobic and resistance groups had the earliest significant improvement on the MoCA, SCWT and TUG-M two months after training. Conclusion: Home-based exercise at low intensity, whether aerobic or resistance training, was effective for improving cognitive function in older persons with MCI and had sustained effects until follow-up.

Keyword : Elderly, Home exercise, Executive function, Attention, Memory

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation acknowledgement section is an opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all those who have support throughout the long journey of a PhD student.

First and foremost, I am deeply thankful to my major-advisor, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Rumpa Boonsinsukh and co-advisor, Asst. Prof. Dr. Nithinun Chaikeeree for their invaluable advice, morale at work, continuous support and patience during my PhD study. Their immense knowledge and vast experience have been instrumental in determining the direction of my research and the quality of the manuscript.

Secondly, I am grateful to defense committees, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Plaiwan Suttanon, Asst. Prof. Dr. Saitida Lapanantasin and Asst. Prof. Dr. Jirabhorn Wannapakhe for useful suggestions in completing this dissertation. I am also thankful to Mr. Wuttichai Anantavibool and the Graduate school staff for coordinating throughout the PhD study. Additionally, this endeavor would not have been possible without the generous support from Thammasat University, which provides scholarships for doctoral study and Faculty of Physical Therapy, Srinakharinwirot University, who financed my research.

Thirdly, I would like to extend my appreciation to all research assistants, Sumonman Ruamthawee, Katavut Phiwjinda, Pattira Wiriyatumjaroen, Fonthip Chansri, Pattaraporn Kosampatti, Warissara Wanjing and Waehaneesah Maduerawee for assisting in data collection throughout the long research period. Special thanks to the elderly in the community for allowing us to collect data and for their full cooperation.

Finally, I would like to mention my family, relatives, friends and colleagues for their support and understanding during this journey. Their belief in me has allowed me to maintain my motivation on days when I feel tired or discouraged and made me persevere until I was successful.

This dissertation would not have been possible without the encouragement of all these individuals. I am truly grateful to everyone who walked with me throughout my doctoral journey.

KITSANA KROOTNARK

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	ł
ABSTRACT D	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSE	
TABLE OF CONTENTSF	
List of tables	
List of figuresI	
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION 1	
Background1	
Research questions5	
Objectives of the study6	
Scope of the study6	
Hypotheses of the study6	
Benefit of the study7	
CHAPTER 2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE8	
Dementia8	
Types of cognitive function and their clinical measurement9	
Mild cognitive impairment20	
Management of cognitive impairment23	
Home-based exercise	
CHAPTER 3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	
Study design	
Study population	

Methods and procedures43
Intervention47
Outcome measurements
Statistical analyses
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS53
Within group effect55
Between group effect61
Cognitive and physical performance changes during each month of training65
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION72
Clinical implications
Limitations of the study78
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION
REFERENCES
APPENDIX
VITA

G

List of tables

Table 1 Cognitive domains and their clinical scales 13
Table 2 Modifiable risk factors for dementia
Table 3 Program of training, intensity, duration and outcomes of exercises
Table 4 Training program45
Table 5 Subject characteristics and pre-training neuropsychological assessments and
physical performance
Table 6 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains and physical
performance outcomes within groups at post-training and follow-up
Table 7 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains and physical
performance outcomes between groups at post-training and follow-up
Table 8 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains and physical
performance outcomes in each group at 1, 2 and 3 months

List of figures

	Page
Figure 1 Flow diagram of the study	.47
Figure 2 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains between the 3 groups	; at
post-training and follow-up	.63
Figure 3 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains and physical	
performances between the 3 groups at post-training and follow-up	64



CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Background

Thai society has advanced to ageing society because the elderly population has continuously increased. In 2014, the population aged 60 years and over was 9.9 million or about 15% of the total population (1) and this population group is likely to increase to 27.8 million by 2050 (2). When we get older, deterioration of the body in various systems, such as cardiopulmonary system, neurological system, musculoskeletal system, visual and auditory system is evident (3). Such deterioration and vulnerability of the body systems could lead to several health problems found in the elderly. One of the common health problems found in the elderly is dementia. The number of dementia population worldwide in 2013 was estimated at 44.35 million, reaching 75.62 million in 2030 and 135.46 million in 2050 (4). In Thailand, it was reported that the number of people with dementia was estimated at 600,000 people in 2015 and this number will be doubled in 2030 (5). Dementia is considered as a neurocognitive disorder (NCDs) in DSM-5; its definition is "a progressive cognitive decline in one or more domains of cognition: perceptual-motor function, executive function, complex attention, learning and memory, language, or social cognition and interfere with normal everyday activities independently" (6). This neurocognitive disorder can be screened in the clinical practice using 2 common scales; Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA). Dementia is one of the health problems leading to physical disability and dependence among the elderly, resulting in a burden of family members and caregivers. Moreover, dementia extensively affects the social and economic costs in terms of medical and social care (7). Therefore, early detection of dementia may delay the adverse impact of dementia in older individuals, their family and society.

Mild neurocognitive disorder or mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is the mild form of dementia and this disorder can later progress to be dementia. A study of the prevalence of mild cognitive impairment in different geographical regions which analyzed data from USA, Europe, Asia and Australia found that the estimation of mild cognitive impairment prevalence was ranged from 5.0 - 36.7% (8). In Thailand, the prevalence of mild cognitive impairment in elderly ranged from 22.7 - 71.4% (9-11), based on the demographic and assessment tools used in data collection. Mild cognitive impairment is a condition which the function of the brain becomes impaired in one or more cognitive domains (6). With this condition, the elderly have decreased cognition or noticed a decrease in their performance on cognitive task, but these symptoms do not interfere with basic activities of daily living (12). Mild cognitive impairment can be classified into four categories: amnestic MCI single, amnestic MCI multiple, nonamnestic MCI single and non-amnestic MCI multiple (12, 13). To prevent further dementia, there are guidelines for the care of dementia in each country. These guidelines provide information about risk and protective factors for dementia and offer strategies for maintaining the optimal cognitive function or reducing the risks which include diet, alcohol intake, smoking, depression, cognitive stimulation, physical and social activities. For example, UK guideline recommends joining in the cognitive stimulation group (14) and Australian guideline encourages the elderly to take part in social activities and mental stimulation that can be considered as a protective factor for dementia (15).

Prevention and treatment of cognitive impairment in the elderly has increased their importance. The evidence from systematic reviews of cognitive training in older people with mild cognitive impairment showed that cognitive training was effective in enhancing various domains of cognitive function, especially memory, executive function and attention domains which are measured using Wechsler Memory Scale (WMS), Stroop Color and Word Test (SCWT), Digit Span Test (DST) and Trail Making Test (TMT) (16, 17). Cognitive training is one of cognition-focused interventions that commonly used in the prevention of cognitive impairment. The cognition-focused interventions can be divided into three types: cognitive stimulation, cognitive training and cognitive rehabilitation (18). Cognitive stimulation focuses on activities that stimulate the overall functions of the brain that causes changes in some domains of cognition through daily

life or social interaction such as art therapy, music therapy or social activity (18). Cognitive training is designed to stimulate specific brain abilities, such as attention, memory, executive function, or perceptual-motor function individually based on the objectives of each study (18-20) which were found to be effective in people with mild cognitive impairment (17, 21). Cognitive rehabilitation focuses on individual disability rather than only cognitive impairment. This intervention mainly uses in people with dementia and aims to improve everyday life performance that is very beneficial to the patients (18, 22). Studies comparing the benefit of cognitive stimulation and cognitive training showed that cognitive training improved cognitive performance better than cognitive stimulation in people with cognitive decline (23, 24). A systematic review evaluating the effectiveness of cognitive rehabilitation and cognitive training showed no difference in cognitive outcomes between the two interventions (22). Therefore, among 3 types of cognition-focus intervention, cognitive training is more preferable and widely used in clinical practice.

In addition to cognitive training, physical exercise is also used to prevent cognitive impairment. Systematic reviews revealed that physical exercise, especially aerobic exercise, has been shown to benefit global cognitive function (as measured by Mini-Mental State Examination; MMSE) in patients with mild cognitive impairment but it is unclear in which specific domain of cognition was improved from physical exercise (25, 26). In general, exercises are classified into four basic types: aerobic exercise, resistance (strengthening) exercise, flexibility exercise and balance (27, 28). According to literature reviews, most of the exercises that are popular for improving cognitive function are aerobic, resistance or multimodal exercises (25, 26, 29, 30). The multimodal exercise is exercise program that consists of several types of exercises, mostly aerobic and resistance exercises.

Aerobic exercise is one of the most common methods of training to improve cognitive function. From reviews, the aerobic exercise program used for this purpose is often given in the form of walking with treadmill and cycling (25, 26, 31). The advantage of these two types of exercise is due to the fact that the intensity of exercise can be

easily controlled and adjusted as needed, but treadmill walking and cycling require specific exercise equipment that may result in limited access of the elderly. Another aerobic exercise program is the group exercise under supervision of the trainer (25, 32-34). Apart from the safety benefit, the group exercise intensity can be adjusted to suit the ability of the elderly. However, the group exercise may not be appropriate for those elderly who could not travel to join the group (35). Therefore, home-based exercise is another interesting option for exercise to reduce these afore-mentioned limitations.

Resistance training is also introduced to enhance cognitive performance. According to the systematic reviews, resistance exercise had positive effects on global cognitive function, executive function and short-term memory domains in older adults (36, 37). There are some studies showed the effect of resistance training at moderate intensity, twice a week for 3 months in promoting better global cognitive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment compared to the control group (38, 39). However, systematic reviews of the effect of exercise on cognitive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment included all types of exercises (40-42). Although there was a systematic review on aerobic and resistance exercises for cognitive function improvement in mild cognitive impairment elderly, the study did not compare the effect of each type of exercise (43). Therefore, it is unclear whether aerobic or resistance exercises have a greater effect on cognitive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment. This information is necessary for planning specific and effective exercise training to improve cognitive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment. Moreover, the findings will be helpful for identifying an alternative exercise for improving cognitive function in those who have limitations or restriction on either aerobic or resistance exercises.

Based on the above review, the home-based exercise is another intervention of choice to prevent the progression of dementia in elderly with mild cognitive impairment. Home-based exercise refers to an exercise performed within or around the home (44). This type of exercise is considered safe to perform without supervision, does not require any exercise equipment or simply use the equipment that can be found at home. However, the questions remain as which home-base exercise would be appropriate to implement in elderly with mild cognitive impairment. According to the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association recommendations (28), the elderly should do aerobic exercise regularly at the moderate intensity, 30 minutes/day, 5 days/week and do muscle strength training at 10-15 repetitions of 8-10 exercises at least 2 days/week to maintain physical fitness and preserve independence of daily life. World Health Organization (WHO) also recommended that the elderly should do physical activity to reduce the risk of cognitive decline (45). At present, there are studies on home-based exercise in the elderly and patients with Alzheimer's disease, with the results focused on functional performance outcome (46, 47). For people with mild cognitive impairment, there are studies on home-based or community-based exercise with multimodal exercise and the results focused only on functional performance outcome (48, 49). However, there is no evidence that any type of home-based exercise can help older people with mild cognitive impairment to enhance cognitive function. In addition, both of aerobic exercise and resistance exercise were found to be effective in improving cognitive function but there are limited studies comparing aerobic exercise and resistance exercise in elderly with mild cognitive impairment.

Research questions

1. What was the effect of home-based aerobic exercise and home-based resistance exercise on the various cognitive domains and physical functions in older persons with mild cognitive impairment?

2. Which home-based exercise, aerobic or resistance exercise, was better in improving cognitive and physical functions in older persons with mild cognitive impairment?

3. When to detect the earliest effect of home-based aerobic exercise and home-based resistance exercise on cognitive and physical functions in older persons with mild cognitive impairment?

Objectives of the study

There were three main objectives of the study.

1. To evaluate the effect of home-based aerobic exercise and home-based resistance exercise on the various cognitive domains and physical functions in older persons with mild cognitive impairment.

2. To compare the effect among home-based aerobic exercise, home-based resistance exercise and those without exercise on older persons with mild cognitive impairment.

3. To evaluate the earliest time of changes in cognitive and physical functions as a result of home-based aerobic exercise and home-based resistance exercise in elderly persons with mild cognitive impairment.

Scope of the study

The study focused on the effect of home-based aerobic exercise and homebased resistance exercise as compared to those who do not exercise on the various cognitive domains and physical functions in older persons (aged 60 years old and over) with mild cognitive impairment both amnestic and non-amnestic type. The outcome measures were cognitive functions in memory, executive function, attention and perceptual-motor function domains by using Stroop Color and Word Test (SCWT), Digit Span Test (DST), Trail Making Test (TMT) and Stick Design Test (SDT) and physical functions by using Timed Up and Go Test (TUG), 6-minute walk test (6MWT) and 30second chair stand test. All measurements were conducted before and after 1, 2 and 3 months of exercise and follow-up 3 months after the end of the exercise program.

Hypotheses of the study

1. Cognitive function would be significantly improved in older persons with mild cognitive impairment who were trained with home-based aerobic exercise and home-based resistance exercise.

2. Older persons with mild cognitive impairment in the exercise group would demonstrate better cognitive function as compared to those in the control group.

3. Older persons with mild cognitive impairment in home-based aerobic exercise would demonstrate better cognitive and physical functions improvement compared to those in home-based resistance exercise.

4. Cognitive function would be significantly improved in older persons with mild cognitive impairment at 1 month after training in home-based aerobic exercise and home-based resistance exercise.

Benefit of the study

The study would provide evidence about the benefit of home-based aerobic exercise and home-based resistance exercise on cognitive and physical functions in older persons with mild cognitive impairment. If the study found the effectiveness of which home-based exercise, it would be another choice of exercise that does not require exercise equipment or use exercise equipment found at home for older persons with mild cognitive impairment to improve cognitive and physical functions. In addition, the findings from this study would be used for planning specific and effective exercise training to improve cognitive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment and would be used for identifying an alternative exercise for improving cognitive function in those who have limitations or restriction on either aerobic or resistance exercises.

CHAPTER 2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The advancement of healthcare and medical technology has resulted in better health and longer life. While the birth rate decreases, the proportion of the elderly population has increased. The definition of the elderly varied from country to country and still did not have a specific age cut-off. However, the United Nations specified numbers for both 60 and 65 years of age in their statistical presentation of the elderly (50). In Thailand, the elderly are individuals aged 60 years and over and have Thai nationality (1). Currently, Thailand is classified as aging society and approaching completely aged society and super-aged society in the near future. By the end of 2019, the number of Thai elderly population was 11.1 million people or about 16.7% of the total population (51) and the number of this population group is expected to increase to 27.8 million by 2050 (2). In older age, the body underwent more degenerative changes in various body systems, such as cardiopulmonary system, neurological system, musculoskeletal system, visual and auditory system (3, 52). The deteriorating performance of the functions of these body systems could lead to several health problems found in the elderly. Dementia is one of the common health problems found in •••••• the elderly.

Dementia

Dementia is classified as a major neurocognitive disorder in the fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5); its diagnostic criteria are

1. There is evidence of progressive cognitive decline in one or more domains of cognitive function: perceptual-motor function, executive function, complex attention, learning and memory, language or social cognition based on self-reported cognitive complaint or the clinician and documented by standardized neuropsychological test that there has been a significant decline in cognitive function. 2. The cognitive deficits interfere with independent of activities of daily living.

3. The cognitive deficits do not occur in the context of a delirium.

4. The cognitive deficits are not explained by other mental disorders (6).

Dementia is a progressive neurocognitive disorder that affects mostly the elderly, including Thai people (53). The number of dementia population worldwide in 2013 was estimated at 44.35 million, reaching 75.62 million in 2030 and 135.46 million in 2050 (4). In Thailand, it was reported that the number of people with dementia was estimated at 600,000 people in 2015, reaching 1.12 million in 2030 and 2.08 million in 2050 (5). Dementia is a major health problem which leads to physical disability and mortality in the elderly (53). Older people with dementia need to be cared for by their family members and caregivers, resulting in physical, emotional and financial stress of the caregivers (5). Moreover, dementia also has a wide impact on social and economic costs in terms of medical and social care (7). Therefore, early detection of dementia may delay the adverse impact of dementia in older individuals, their family and society.

Types of cognitive function and their clinical measurement

Types of cognitive function

Cognitive function refers to the ability to process information and generate appropriate responses through learning, thinking, problem solving, and decision making (54). Cognitive function can be classified into 6 categories (6), as following;

1. Perceptual-motor function

Perceptual-motor function includes visual perception, visuoconstructional reasoning and perceptual-motor coordination (6). The impairment of perceptual-motor function may lead to requiring more effort to work with perceptual-motor tasks, for example depending on others for traveling (55).

2. Executive function

Executive function includes planning, decision-making, working memory, responding to feedback, inhibitory control and cognitive flexibility (6). The executive function refers to a top-down cognitive process that is required when you need to concentrate and pay attention, when performing automatic tasks or relying on your instinct. It takes time to think before doing, faces the unexpected challenges and resists the attractions (56).

3. Complex attention

Complex attention includes the ability to maintain attention over a long period of time (sustained attention), the ability to pay attention on more than one stimulus at the same time (divided attention), the ability to focus on certain stimuli while ignore other distracting stimulus (selective attention) (57), and the ability to identify, integrate and respond to the information that one receives (processing speed) (58).

4. Learning and memory

Learning and memory include free recall, cued recall, recognition memory, long-term memory and implicit learning (6). Memory can be divided into two major types: short-term memory and long-term memory. Long-term memory is also divided into two subtypes that are 1) the explicit memory (or declarative, or conscious memory) and 2) the implicit memory (or non-declarative, or unconscious memory) (59).

5. Language

Language includes speaking, listening and the ability of language usage. Examples of language start from the ability to name of objects, the ability to find of words, the ability to use language fluency, the ability to use correct grammar and syntax and the ability to receive the messages of others (6, 55).

6. Social cognition

Social cognition includes recognition of emotions and theory of mind (6). The recognition of emotions is the ability to recognize the people's emotions from their facial expressions and the theory of mind refers to the ability to understand people's thoughts or ability to predict people's experiences (55).

Clinical measurements of cognitive function

Assessment of cognitive function is important in screening and diagnosing mild cognitive impairment or dementia. It can also be used to monitor the progression of cognitive decline. These assessment scales are standardized tests for global cognition. The most popular standardized test for mild cognitive impairment screening and

diagnosis are Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA).

1. Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)

The Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) is the well-known, most widely translated and used for screening cognitive function. The scores are ranging from 0 to 30 points, with lower scores associated with higher cognitive impairment. The cut-off score at less than 24 points indicates cognitive impairment (60). In Thailand, the Mini-Mental State Examination: Thai version (MMSE – Thai 2002) was translated and developed by Institute of Geriatric Medicine, Department of Medical Services, Ministry of Public Health. The scores of this measurement also range from 0 to 30 points, as the original Mini-Mental State Examination but this measurement classifies people into three groups according to educational level. The cut-off scores used to indicate cognitive impairment in people with higher than primary school and primary school education are less than 23 and 18, respectively. Only people without education, the scores are ranging from 0 to 23 points and the cut-off score is less than 15 (55).

2. Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA)

The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) is developed to detect for mild cognitive impairment. The scores are the same range as Mini-Mental State Examination but the cut-off score that is used to indicate cognitive impairment is less than 25 points (60, 61). In the Thai version, it has the same description and interpretation as the original version. Thai version of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment show good internal consistency, high sensitivity (72.1%) and specificity (75.0%) for detecting people with mild cognitive impairment (62). Moreover, Montreal Cognitive Assessment demonstrated superiority over Mini-Mental State Examination for detecting mild cognitive impairment (63, 64).

In addition to global cognition assessment, there are clinical scales for assessing specific cognitive domains for differential diagnosis of each type of dementia, for example, patients with Alzheimer's disease suffer from loss of cognition in learning and memory domain more than other cognitive domains. Assessment of cognition in each domain reveals the specific impairment of cognition for planning appropriate and corresponding treatment. Clinical scales that are commonly used for evaluating specific domain of cognition (65, 66) are shown in Table 1.



scales
clinical
I their
is anc
domain
gnitive
ö
Table 1

Clinical measurement	Subdomains	Number of studies	Measurement method	Psychometric properties
Executive function		0000		
Trail Making Test - B	Cognitive flexibility	32	- Part B: Line alternating between	- There are reports of normative
(62-69)			numbers and letters.	data separated by age and
			- Score based on the time of the	education level and cut-off
			completed task.	scores for each part .
				- Inter-rater reliability (r = 0.90)
				- Test-retest reliability
				(r = 0.44-0.89)
Stroop Color Word	Cognitive inhibition,	12	- 1) read the word (name of the	- There are reports of normative
Test (70, 71)	selective attention		color), 2) name the color and 3)	data separated by age and
			name the color of words within	education level.
			45 seconds/task.	- Test-retest reliability
			- Score based on the number of	(r = 0.67-0.83)
			the correct items.	

Clinical measurement	Subdomains	Number of studies	Measurement method	Psychometric properties
Executive function				
Digit Span Test (72)	Working memory,	12	- Repeat the given set of numbers	- Internal consistency
	short-term auditory		both forward and backward.	(r = 0.67 - 0.95)
	memory		- Score based on the length of the	- Test-retest reliability
			set of numbers.	(r = 0.41-0.83)
Attention				
Trail Making Test - A	Selective and	26	- Part A: Line connecting the	- There are reports of normative
(62-69)	divided attention		numbers in order from 1 to 25	data separated by age and
			- Score based on the time of the	education level and cut-off
			completed task.	scores for each part.
				- Inter-rater reliability ($r = 0.94$)
				- Test-retest reliability
				(r = 0.36-0.79)

Clinical measurement	Subdomains	Number of studies	Measurement method	Psychometric properties
Attention		10000		
Digit Symbol	Processing speed	6	- Write the correct symbol in the	- This task is part of the Wechsler
Substitution test (73,			space below the given number.	Adult Intelligence Scale.
74)			(The numbers and symbols	- There are reports of normative
			shown as an example.)	data.
			- Score based on the number of	- Psychometric properties are
			the correct items.	reported as an overall of the
				Wechsler Adult Intelligence
				Scale.
Learning and memory		- 19 S		
Logical memory (75)	Immediate and	15	- Tell the story that the assessor	- This task is part of the Wechsler
	delayed recall		tells you immediately and after	Memory Scale.
			30 minutes.	- Psychometric properties are
			- Score based on the number of	reported as an overall of the
			the correct recalled items.	Wechsler Memory Scale.

Clinical measurement	Subdomains	Number of studies	Measurement method	Psychometric properties
Learning and memory		0002		
Digit Span Test	Short-term auditory	4	- Repeat the given set of numbers.	- Internal consistency
(forward) (72)	memory		- Score based on the length of the	(r = 0.67 - 0.95)
			set of numbers.	- Test-retest reliability
				(r = 0.41-0.83)
Perceptual-motor funct	tion			
Clock drawing test	Visuospatial and	6	- Draw a watch face, complete the	- Inter-rater reliability
(76, 77)	praxis abilities,		numbers and draw clock hands	(r = 0.82 - 0.94)
	planning		pointing to the specified time.	- Test-retest reliability
			- Score based on the number of	(r = 0.70-0.94)
			the correct drawn items.	- Sensitivity = 77% and
				specificity = 87% in screening
				for moderate to severe cognitive
				impairment

16

(cont')
scales
heir clinical
s and tl
domains
Cognitive
-
Table

Clinical measurement	Subdomains	Number of studies	Measurement method	Psychometric properties
Perceptual-motor funct	ion			
Clock reading test	Visual perception	Not report	- Read the time shown in the	- Sensitivity = 82% and
(78)			watch face image without	specificity = 70%
			numbers (only the hands) with	at cut-off \leq 10.5 in screening for
			each image showing a different	Alzheimer's disease
			time.	- Construct validity (r = 0.50)
			- Score based on the number of	compared to Rey figure copying
			telling the time correctly.	
Stick design test (79,	Visuoconstructional	Not report	- Arrange the matches according	- Sensitivity = 58% and
80)	reasoning		to the example shown.	specificity = 90% in screening
			- Score based on the number of	for dementia
			the correct placed matches.	- Construct validity (r = 0.544)
				compared to Clock drawing test

Clinical measurement	Subdomains	Number of studies	Measurement method	Psychometric properties
Language				
Verbal fluency (81-83)	Language fluency,	34	- Tell words beginning with a	- There are reports of normative
	cognitive flexibility		given letter (letter fluency) or tell	data separated by age and
			words in a given category	education level.
			(category fluency) or tell words in	- Internal consistency ($r = 0.83$)
			two different categories	- Inter-rater reliability ($r = 0.99$)
			(switching verbal fluency) as	- Test-retest reliability ($r = 0.70$)
			many as possible within 1	(from Controlled Oral Word
			minute/task.	Association Test)
			- Score based on the number of	- Switching verbal fluency:
			the correct items.	construct validity ($r = 0.445$)
				compared to Trail Making Test

Clinical measurement	Subdomains	Number of studies	Measurement method	Psychometric properties
Language				
Boston Naming Test	Verbal naming	22	- Tell the name of the given	- There are reports of normative
(84, 85)			picture.	data separated by age and
			- Score based on the number of	education level.
			the correct items.	- Test-retest reliability (r = 0.91)
Token test (86)	Verbal	3	- Follow the given instructions	- Good validity and reliability
	comprehension		referring to images of different	
			colors, shapes and sizes.	
			- Score based on the number of	
			the correct items.	

19

Mild cognitive impairment

Definition of mild cognitive impairment

Mild neurocognitive disorder or mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is a term used to describe the stage between normal cognitive function and dementia and the elderly with mild cognitive impairment have a high rate of progression to dementia (87). There are four criteria of DSM-5 for diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment (6), as following;

1. There is evidence of cognitive decline in one or more cognitive domains (executive function, complex attention, learning and memory, perceptual-motor function, language or social cognition) based on self-reported cognitive complaint and documented by standardized neuropsychological test.

2. The cognitive deficits do not interfere with independent of activities of daily living.

3. The cognitive deficits do not occur in the context of a delirium.

4. The cognitive deficits are not explained by other mental disorders.

Prevalence of mild cognitive impairment

Systematic review of 35 studies in participants aged over 60 years revealed that the prevalence of mild cognitive impairment in different geographical regions was ranged from 0.5 - 41.8% and the pooled prevalence of mild cognitive impairment was 17.3% (95% confidence interval (CI) = 13.8 - 20.8) (88). In Thailand, although several researchers collected the prevalence of people with mild cognitive impairment but there was no report on the prevalence of cognitive impairment in the whole country. However, the prevalence of cognitive impairment in elderly people aged 60 years and over was ranged from 22.7 - 71.4% in rural area (9, 10). A study of people worked at the Ramathibodi Hospital aged between 50 and 60 years showed those with a mild cognitive impairment of 30.8% (11), which can be seen as different by demographic and assessment tools used to collect data.

Risk factors of cognitive decline

There were studies on the risk factors affecting cognitive decline that could be divided into 2 main areas: non-modifiable and modifiable risk factors. Non-modifiable risk factors include genetic, age, gender and race (45, 89). Increasing age is the strongest risk factor for cognitive decline, dementia, particularly for Alzheimer disease (90). The meta-analysis of mild cognitive impairment incidence per 1,000 person-years for ages 75-79 years, 80-84 years and \geq 85 years were approximately 22.5, 40.9 and 60.1, respectively (91). Currently, several studies had shown a relationship between the development of cognitive impairment and dementia with education (92) and medical conditions, such as hypertension, diabetes, obesity, hearing loss and depression (93-100). Furthermore, lifestyle-related risk factors were associated with an increased risk of developing mild cognitive impairment and dementia, including physical inactivity, smoking, alcohol use and social isolation (101-104). These were classified as modifiable risk factors which focused on the application to prevent dementia and/or the delay of progression of cognitive decline. Less education, hearing loss and air pollution were the most modifiable risk factors that can contribute to increase dementia risk in early life, midlife and later life, respectively (105) as summarized in Table 2.



Modifiable risk factors	Age range	Prevalence	Weighted PAF
Loop advaction	Early life	40.09/	7 1%
Less education	(age < 45 years)	40.0%	7.170
Hearing loss		31.7%	8.2%
Traumatic brain injury	Midlife – (age 45 - 65 years) –	12.1%	3.4%
Hypertension		8.9%	1.9%
Alcohol (> 21 units/week)		11.8%	0.8%
Obesity (BMI ≥ 30)		3.4%	0.7%
Smoking	AJNES	27.4%	5.2%
Depression	– Later life	13.2%	3.9%
Social isolation		11.0%	3.5%
Physical inactivity	(age > 65 years)	17.7%	1.6%
Diabetes		6.4%	1.1%
Air pollution		75.0%	2.3%

Table 2 Modifiable risk factors for dementia

Weighted PAF = Weighted population attributable fraction

Classification of mild cognitive impairment

Mild cognitive impairment can be classified into two major types that is amnestic MCI and non-amnestic MCI based on memory domain. Amnestic MCI is characterized by clinical presentation with memory impairment while non-amnestic MCI has normal memory but presence of impairment at least one domain in non-memory cognitive domains such as executive function, attention, perceptual-motor function and language domains (87). In addition, both types of mild cognitive impairment can separate in a single cognitive domain or multiple cognitive domains that the number of affected domains may be due to brain disease or pathology and severity of disease. Moreover, multiple cognitive domains may have a higher chance of progression from mild cognitive impairment to dementia than a single cognitive domain (12, 87). However, all types of mild cognitive impairment can advance to dementia, with the amnestic MCI progresses to Alzheimer dementia and non-amnestic MCI progresses to vascular dementia or lewy body dementia (non-Alzheimer dementia) (12).

Management of cognitive impairment

Pharmacological treatment

Currently, there is no evidence for the efficacy of acceptable pharmacological treatment in the mild cognitive impairment, so pharmacology is mainly used to reduce risk factors for cognitive deficit and dementia, such as taking antihypertensive drugs, cholesterol-lowering drugs and vitamins. Moreover, the specialized medical care should focus on the treatable causes of cognitive impairment and re-evaluation of cognitive function to assess the progression of the cognitive decline (13, 106).

Non-phamacological treatment

Non-pharmacological treatments are other therapies that did not use medicines for improving the cognitive functions, such as cognitive training, physical activity intervention, and lifestyle modification (107). There is a recommendation of these treatments may be effective in reducing the progression from cognitive decline (45).

1. Transcranial direct current stimulation

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a noninvasive brain stimulation that regulates the cortical excitability in a polarity-dependent form and can induce neuronal activity (108). It is currently being used in the treatment of neurological disease such as stroke. There was a study of the effect of tDCS in mild cognitive impairment found that anodal tDCS over the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex improved cognitive function in attention and visual memory domain (109).

2. Cognitive-focused interventions

Cognition-focused interventions are the strategies used to enhance or maintain cognitive function in people who suffer from cognitive impairment. The cognition-focused interventions can be divided into three categories (18), as following;

2.1 Cognitive stimulation

Cognitive stimulation refers to a wide range and non-specific approach of activities that aimed at stimulating the people to improve cognitive functions through daily life or social interaction like puzzles, word games, indoor gardening, art therapy or music therapy. It focuses on the involvement of multiple cognitive domains rather than the targeting at a specific cognitive domain (18, 110).

2.2 Cognitive training

Cognitive training is a cognitive practice training that enhances performance of cognitive function, which targets at a specific cognitive domain. Repetitive cognitive training will lead to improve in the cognitive domain being trained. Cognitive training is usually organized on an individual basis depending on the cognitive problems of the person and is often modified or increased the difficulty of the task when the trained person does better (18, 110). For example, the participant listens or reads a section of text and then answers questions about it. Difficulty of the questions can range from general to concrete details and data. This cognitive training can be practiced using traditional pen-and-pencil or computer-based program (111).

2.3 Cognitive rehabilitation

Cognitive rehabilitation is a more individualized practice method for helping people with cognitive impairments. It focuses on the management of functional disability rather than cognitive function alone. For example, training on an important function of daily activities using action-based learning by creating a model and then the participants learn and follow. There may be included the modification of participant's environment and surroundings (22). This type of intervention is therefore used in people with mild to moderate dementia and is intended to improve their performance in daily life, which is of great benefit to the patient (18).

There were studies comparing the benefit of cognitive stimulation and cognitive training in older people at risk of cognitive decline and mild Alzheimer's disease and they showed that cognitive stimulation was less effective to improve cognitive performance than cognitive training (23, 24). Another systematic review evaluating the effectiveness of cognitive rehabilitation showed that cognitive rehabilitation was a valuable treatment for supporting the management of everyday activities in people with mild to moderate dementia and their families (22). Moreover, there were evidence of cognitive training in older people with mild cognitive impairment that suggested cognitive training was effective in improving cognitive functions at least one domain and reducing the risk of cognitive decline and dementia (16, 17, 45).

The effect of cognitive training on cognitive function generally involves both compensation and restoration mechanisms (112). The compensation mechanism activated other areas of the brain or other networks to compensate for the impaired part (112). There was an increase of brain activation after memory training within a large network of the frontal, temporal, and parietal areas, especially in the right inferior parietal lobule that related the memory in participants with mild cognitive impairment (113). The restoration mechanisms activated at the networks or the impaired brain areas to restore the cognitive performance (112). There were studies reported that cognitive training, especially mnemonic strategy training, improved memory by restoring partial activation in the hippocampus of participants with mild cognitive impairment (114, 115).

3. Physical exercise

Physical exercise is a subset of physical activity that involves any movements of body produced by skeletal muscles and results in energy expenditure. Exercise is a planned, structured and repetitive activity that is intended to improve or maintain one or more components of physical fitness (116). Exercises are generally divided into four basic types: aerobic exercise, resistance exercise, flexibility exercise and balance (27, 28).

3.1 Aerobic exercise

Aerobic exercise or endurance exercise is an activity that promotes or improves physical fitness, cardiovascular endurance, respiratory, and circulatory system. The recommendation of aerobic exercise in the elderly is to perform moderate intensity aerobic physical activity for at least 30 minutes on 5 days each week. For example, the aerobic physical activities are walking, jogging, and swimming (28).

3.2 Resistance exercise

Resistance exercise or strengthening exercise is an activity that maintains or increases muscle tone and muscle strength using weight or resistance. The recommendation of resistance exercise in the elderly is to perform 8-10 resistance exercise involving the major muscle groups (such as chest muscles, arm and shoulder muscles, abdominal and back muscles, leg and buttock muscles, etc.) for at least 2 days per week. For example, the muscle strengthening activities are lifting weight or a resistance band or using their own body weight (28).

3.3 Flexibility exercise

Flexibility exercise or stretching exercise is an activity that maintains or increases the flexibility of muscle for regular activity and daily life. The recommendation of flexibility exercise in the elderly is to perform this activity at least 2 days per week. For example, the flexibility activities are stretching, yoga and pilates (28).

3.4 Balance exercise

Balance exercise is an activity that increases postural balance and reduces risk for falls, which is common problem in the elderly. The recommendation of balance exercise in the elderly is to perform balance exercises at least 2 days per week especially older people who are at risk of falling. For example, the balance activities are balance training and Tai-Chi (28).

According to systematic reviews, physical exercise was beneficial for cognitive function, mainly global cognition, in participants with mild cognitive impairment (25, 26). The physical exercises used for improving cognitive function can be categorized into three groups: aerobic exercise, resistance exercise and multimodal exercise (consisted of aerobic exercise, resistance exercise, balance exercise and/or flexibility exercise). From meta-analyses, the effect of exercise on global cognition is largely attributed to a multimodal training program with shorter session duration and higher frequency which had a greater impact on cognitive function in persons with mild cognitive impairment (25, 117). Exercising in short session may lead to less fatigue, which can have a positive effect on the movement ability and motivation to exercise,
whereas high frequency exercise may maintain levels of exercise-induced neurological factors, which resulted in improving neurological health (117).

The effect of physical exercise on cognitive function is due to the physiological mechanisms of neuroprotective and neuroplastic effects on brain structures (30, 118). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is one of neurotrophic factors that plays a role in enhancing neuronal development and stimulating the activity of neurons in the brain (119). BDNF levels decreased with increasing age and were associated with the loss of gray matter at hippocampus affecting memory deficit in the elderly (120). Exercise had resulted in an increased release of BDNF which positively effect on cognitive function (118). A Study had shown that people who exercise regularly affect BDNF concentration and found that BDNF release increased 2-3 times during exercise (121). Moreover, there is a study shown that 3 months of aerobic exercise had increased the resting of BDNF level by almost four times (122). In addition to releasing neurotrophic factors such as BDNF, exercise also improved cerebral blood flow and reduced systematic inflammation that may help to prevent age-related cognitive decline (118).

In addition to aerobic exercise, resistance exercise was also beneficial for cognitive function in healthy older adults and participants with mild cognitive impairment. From systematic reviews and meta-analyses, resistance exercise significantly improved global cognitive function and executive function domain in both healthy older adults and participants with mild cognitive impairment and improved shortterm memory as assessed by the digit span test in healthy older adults (36, 37). The resistance exercises that improve cognitive function can be accomplished by focusing on the lower limbs and both the upper and lower body (39, 123-125). It was also found that tri-weekly of resistance exercise had a significant benefit to global cognitive function and biweekly in executive function in older adults (36).

The effect of resistance exercise on cognitive function is due to the physiological mechanisms of neuroprotective and neuroplastic effects on brain structures. Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) is one of the most important neurotrophic

factors for growth and development in humans and have been associated with brain especially cognitive function (126). Studies in older adults demonstrated that low levels of serum IGF-1 were associated with poor cognitive function, especially a decrease of information processing speed (127). Resistance exercise caused changes in brain function by increasing serum IGF-1 levels (128) and elevating circulating BDNF (129). A Study had found that there was an approximately 20% increase in circulating IGF-1 in people who performed 13 weeks of resistance exercise at 60-70% of 1 repetition maximum (RM) (130).

Aerobic exercise at least 30 minutes per day for 3 to 6 months or resistance exercise at moderate to high intensity, 2-3 days per week for at least 3 months had been shown to improve cognitive function and physical performance in the elderly and participants with mild cognitive impairment. Summary of program of training, intensity, duration and outcomes of exercises are shown in Table 3.



			A d,	29 5					
Measurement outcomes		Cog: executive function (TMT, COAS, COWA) Phy: TUG, 6MWT, SLS Others: plasma BDNF	Cog: global cognitive function (The 5-Cog), executive function (TMT) and attention (DSST, YKS, Phy: grip strength, walking spee balance, TUG Others: QOL, GDS, TMIG-IC, LS	Cog: global cognitive function (ADAS-Cog) Others: BDI, MCS					
Duration		60 minutes/day 2 days/week 16 weeks	90 minutes/day 1 day/week 12 weeks	150 minutes/week 24 weeks					
Intensity		, Not report	Not report	Moderate					
program of training		Exp: Multimodal class included cardiovascular strength and motor fitness training (balance, coordination, flexibility and agility) Con: Usual activities	Exp: Walk on a regular basis and increase thei steps per day gradually. Con: Educational lectures that were not directly related to prevent mental decline.	Exp: Individualized home-based physical activity program such as walking, strength training exercise, circuit gym exercise, etc. depending on each participant to choose Con: Usual care					
Mean age		68.9±3.3	72.0±4.0	98.7 ± 8.6					
Participants		49 elderly	150 elderly	170 MCI					
Authors & Year	Physical exercise	Vaughan S., et al . 2014 (34)	Maki Y., et al. 2012 (131)	Lautenschlager NT., et al. 2008 (132)					

29

(cont')
exercises
of
outcomes
nd
0 C
duratio
intensity,
of training,
Brogram
Table 3

		50
Measurement outcomes	Cog: global cognitive functior (French ERFC) Phy: gait parameters (walking speed, stride length, double l support time)	Cog: global cognitive functior (MMSE, ADAS-Cog) Others: NPI, QOL-AD Cog: executive function (computerized Stroop task) Phy: TUG, submaximal Bruce treadmill tests
Duration	60 minutes/day 3 day/week 15 weeks	40 minutes/day 3 days/week 12 weeks 16 weeks
Intensity	Mild to moderate	Moderate Moderate
program of training	Exp: Physical stimulation based on walking exercises, equilibrium and endurance Con: Did not practice any physical activities.	 Exp: Cycling training Con: Health education Exp1: Resistance training using machines and free weights, 3 sets of 10 repetitions Exp2: Treadmill walking at 70-75% of HRmax, 47 minutes Exp2: Treadmill walking at 70-75% of HRmax, at 70% of HRmax interspersed by 3 minutes active recovery at 70% HRmax Con: Did not exercise.
Mean age	81.8 ± 5.3	72.0 ± 7.0 62.8 ± 5.7
Participants	31 dementia	50 AD 67 elderly
Authors & Year	Physical exercise Kemoun G., et al. 2010 (133)	Yang SY., et al. 2015 (134) Coetsee C., Terblanche E. 2017 (135)

Authors & Year	Participants	Mean age	program of training	Intensity	Duration	Measurement outcomes
Physical exercise						
Biazus-Sehn LF., et al. 2020 (40)	MCI	71.8 ± 6.0	Exp: Aerobic, multimodal, others Con: Not report	Vot report	40 - 45 minutes/week	Cog: global cognitive function, cognitive speed, verbal fluency, immediate and delayed recall, working memory, executive function and attention
			Exp: Aerobic, multimodal, walking		20 - 90	
			Con: Usual daily activity, stretching, balance		minutes/day,	Cog: global cognitive function,
Cal Y., et al.	MCI	70 - 78	and/or toning, non-exercise, active cognitive M	Moderate	1 - 4	executive function, memory,
(051) C1 UZ			training, low-intensity placebo physical activity,		days/week,	attention and processing speed
			recreational activities		10 - 52 weeks	
					30 - 90	
Sanders LMJ.,	()		Exp: Aerobic, anaerobic, multicomponent,		minutes/day,	Cog: global cognitive function,
et al. 2019	elderly,	> 50	psychomotor	Moderate	1 - 5	executive function and memory
(117)			Con: No exercise, stretching, balance and tone		days/week,	
					4 - 52 weeks	

31

Authors & Year	Participants	Mean age	program of training	Intensity	Duration	Measurement outcomes
Physical exercise						
					30 - 90 minutes/day	Coar alabal coanitiva function
Gates N., et al.	MCI	65 - 95	Exp: Aerobic, multimodal, resistance, walking	Moderate	2 - 4	executive function, memory and
2013 (31)		(mean =76)	Con: Education or no treatment		days/week,	information processing
					6 - 52 weeks	
			Ever Multimodel wolking Tei Obi association		30 - 90	
Ohman H.	MCL		Exp. intuitinodal, warking, rai orii, ergocycling, strenath training		minutes/day,	Cog: global cognitive function,
	Damantia	68 - 86	Contractions activity stratching adjunction	Not report	2 - 4	executive function, attention,
GI AI. 2014 (20)			our. Osual daily activity, succoming, education,		days/week,	memory and communication
			placedo plijojcal activity		6 - 52 weeks	
					total training	Cog: global cognitive function,
Law UN., et al.	Domontio	68 - 86	EXP: Aerobic, multimodal, resistance, walking	Moderate	duration of	executive function, reasoning,
ZUZU (4 I)	Dellellia				> 24 hours	memory, attention and language

Authors & Year	Participants	Mean age	program of training	Duration	Measurement outcomes
Physical exercise					
					Cog: global cognitive function,
				mean frequency	attention, executive function,
			Evo: Aarohio mind-body mixed obyceinal	1 - 3.8	memory, motor speed, and
Demurtas J.,		Not robort	LAP. Actoble, minu-body, mixed physical positivity positionen	times/week,	language
et al. 2020 (42)	NO.		Con Not colored	mean duration	Phy: gait speed, chair stand,
				36.6 - 146	balance, aerobic capacity,
				minutes	strength
					Others: health related QOL
Resistance exerci	se only		0.76		
				2 (3) sets of	
Kimura K.,			Exp: Facility-based program using progressive	10 repetitions	Cog: executive function (task
et al. 2010	119 elderly	≥ 65	resistance training and balance training	90 minutes/day	switching test)
(137)			Con: Health education	2 days/week	Others: SF-36 questionnaire
				12 weeks	

Authors & Year	Participants	Mean age	program of training	Intensity	Duration	Measurement outcomes
Resistance exerci	ise only					
						Cog: working memory (DST), short-
						term memory (WMS-R), attention
						(Toulouse-Pieron's concentration
			Exp: 6 resistance exercises on specific		2 sets of	attention test) and long-term
Cassilhas RC.,			equipment (chest press, leg press, vertical	50% and	8 repetitions	memory (Rey-Osterrieth complex
et al. 2007	62 elderly	65 - 75	traction, abdominal crunch, leg curl, and lower	80% of	1 hour/session	figure)
(138)			back)	1-RM	3 days/week	Phy: body composition, 1-RM test
			Con: Stretching		24 weeks	Others: SF-36 questionnaire, GDS,
						POMS, hemodynamic measures,
						blood viscosity, erythrocytes and
						hematocrits and IGF-1
						Cog: global cognitive function
Smolarek AC.,			Exp: 5 lower body and 5 upper body exercises		3 sets of	(MoCA)
et al. 2016	37 elderly	65.87 ± 5.69	using resistance machines and dumbbells	60 - 70%	10 repetitions	Phy: upper and lower limb
(125)			Con: No exercise intervention	of 1-RM	3 days/week	strength, flexibility and
					12 weeks	anthropometric parameters

Authors & Year	Participants	Mean age	program of training In	ntensity	Duration	Measurement outcomes
Resistance exerc	ise only					
Coelho-Junior HJ., et al. 2020 (139)	36 elderly	⊳ 90	Exp1: Resistance exercise using exercise machines and free weight Exp2: Resistance exercise using elastic bands Moc (perform concentric contractions as fast as possible) Con: No exercise intervention	oderate to high	3 sets of 12 - 15 repetitions 2 days/week 22 weeks	Cog: global cognitive function (MMSE), short-term memory (picture memory test) Phy: TUG with cognitive task Others: GDS, serum levels of BDNF
Yoon DH.,	45 00001110	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	Exp: High-speed resistance exercise using Dep elastic exercise band colo	epend on volocitio	12 - 15 repetitions	Cog: global cognitive function (MMSE-Korean, CERAD-Korean), memory (Rey 15-item Memory test), processing speed and cognitive flexibility (TMT), working
et al. 2010 (124)	frailty	0.4 1 0.4	con. continue routine daily acurvities and the perform static and dynamic stretching using exelastic exercise band.	band	a days/week 16 weeks	memory (DST), executive function (FAB) Phy: SPPB, TUG, isokinetic dynamometer
						Olliels. Fidily score

Authors & Year	Participants	Mean age	program of training	Intensity	Duration	Measurement outcomes
Resistance exerci	ise only					
			Exp1: High-intensity progressive resistance			Cog: global cognitive function
			exercise (PRT)			(ADAS-Cog), executive function
			Epx2: Computer-based multidomain of		60 - 100	(WAIS-III, COWA), memory (BVRT,
Mavios 1.,			cognitive training	80 - 92%	minutes/day	Logical memory I, II), and
el al. 2017		00	Exp3: High-intensity PRT and computer-based	of 1-RM	2 - 3 days/week	processing speed and attention
(140)			multidomain of cognitive training		24 weeks	(SDMT)
			Con: Watching general documentary videos,			Phy: VO2peak, muscle strength
			stretching			Others: Frailty score
						Cog: executive function (COWA,
						Stroop test), attention and working
					1 hour/session	memory (DST) and memory (Rey
Hong SG., et al.	47 MCI	75.53 ± 4.48	Exp: Resistance exercises with an elastic band	65% of	2 davs/week	15-item Memory test)
2018 (38)			Con: Maintain current lifestyle.	1-RM	12 weeks	Phy: senior fitness test, body
						composition
						Others: electroencephalograms

Authors & Year	Participants	Mean age	program of training	Intensity	Duration	Measurement outcomes	
Resistance exerci	ise only						
			Exp1: Resistance exercise focused on the				
			lower limbs using resistance elastic bands		Z - 3 SELS UI	Cog: global cognitive function	
Mollinedo			Epx2: Physical exercise focused on the lower		01 - 10 modelitioner	(MMSE, Pfeiffer test)	
Cardalda I.,	77 MCI	84.8 ± 7.9	limbs and aimed at increasing the range of	Not report		Phy: five times sit-to-stand test,	
et al. 2019 (39)			mobility and coordination			balance, Barthel index	
			Con: Crafts, reading comprehension and		Z days/week	Others: SF-12	
			cognitive stimulation activities		IZ WEEKS		
			Exp: Aerobic, multimodal, resistance, walking,			Cog: global cognitive function	
Lee J. 2020 (43)	MCI	> 50	jogging, shadowboxing, Tai Chi Con: Usual care. education. normal social	Moderate to vigorous	3 days/week	(MMSE) Phv: Handario strenath	
~			activities, stretching, balance and tone)	25 weeks	Others: Blood pressure, BMI	

Authors & Year	Participants	Mean age	program of training	Intensity	Duration	Measurement outcomes
Resistance exercit	se only					
Coelho-Junior H., et al. 2020 (37)	healthy and cognitively impaired older adults	> 60	Exp: Traditional, high-speed, and circuited resistance training that were performed with dynamic muscle contractions Con: No intervention, stretching, balance, social activities	Moderate to high	2 - 4 sets 1 - 3 days/week 6 - 36 weeks	Cog: global cognitive function, short-term and long-term memory, attention and concentration, set- shifting, spatial awareness, reaction time, and verbal fluency.
Li Z., et al. 2018 (36)	elderly, MCI	55 - 80	Exp: Free weight training, elastic band training and dumbbells barbells training Con: Non-exercise, balance and tone and health education	30 - 100% of 1-RM	30–100 minutes/set 1 - 3 sets/week or 2 - 3 sets of 6 - 15 repetitions 6 - 52 weeks	Cog: global cognitive function, executive function, memory and attention

AD = Alzheimer's Disease, MCI = Mild cognitive impairment	experimental group, Con = control group, HRmax = maximal heart rate, RM = repetition maximum	Cog = cognitive performance outcomes	ADAS-Cog = Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale-Cognitive Subscale, BVRT = Benton Visual Retention Test,	CERAD = Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's disease, COAS = California Older Adult Stroop Test,	COWA = Controlled Oral Word Association test, DSST = Digit Symbol Substitution Test, DST = Digit Span Test,	ERFC = Rapid Evaluation of Cognitive Functions test, FAB = Frontal assessment battery, MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination,	MoCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment, SDMT = Symbol Digit Modalities Test, The 5-Cog = The Five Cognitive Tests, TMT = Trail Making Test,	WAIS-III = Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Third Edition, WMS-R = Wechsler Memory Scale-Revised, YKSST = Yamaguchi Kanji Symbol Substitution Test	Phy = physical performance outcomes	BMI = Body mass Index, SLS = single leg stance test, SPPB = Short Physical Performance Battery, TUG = Timed Up and Go test,	VO2peak = Peak Oxygen Consumption, 6MWT = six-minute walk test	Others = Other outcomes	BDNF = Brain-derived neurotrophic factor, IGF-1 = Insulin-like growth factor-1	BDI = Beck Depression Inventory, GDS = Geriatric Depression Scale, LSA = Life Space Assessment,	MCS = Medical Outcomes 36-Item Short Form (SF-36) mental component summary, NPI = Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire,	POMS = Profile of mood states, QOL = Quality of Life, QOL-AD = Quality of Life Alzheimer's Disease,	SF-12 = Health questionnaire 12-Item Short Form survey, SF-36 questionnaire = short form 36 health survey questionnaire.
---	--	--------------------------------------	--	--	---	--	---	---	-------------------------------------	---	--	-------------------------	--	---	---	---	--

39

TMIG-IC = Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Gerontology Index of Competence

Home-based exercise

At present, home-based exercise is one of the most popular options for exercising in older people. Home-based exercise refers to an exercise performed within or around the home with or without a specific exercise program (44). This exercise does not require any exercise equipment or use the equipment that can be found at home. It is considered to be a safe exercise that does not require supervision. People who perform this type of exercise must be able to assess the exercise intensity by themselves for safety reason. There were systematic reviews evaluating the effectiveness of individualized home-based and community-based exercise programs and founded that these interventions significantly improved physical function, mobility and balance in both healthy elderly and older adults with mild cognitive impairment (48, 141). In addition, the effectiveness of home-based exercise was not different from group exercise (142). Therefore, home-based exercise might have an advantage over group exercise in a specified location due to ease of access and home-based exercise can reduce barriers in participation such as the need for travel and other related expenses. However, one of the challenging aspects of home-based exercise was to design the programs that were appropriate for the participants. It should be taken into consideration regarding the factors that support exercise at home, especially safety of the participants.

In summary, exercise is beneficial for cognitive function. Most exercises from recent research studies have used equipment or had to travel to exercise in a specified location causing travel restrictions and increased expenses. Home-based exercise is another intervention of choice to reduce these afore-mentioned problems and prevent the progression of dementia in elderly with mild cognitive impairment. At present, there are studies on home-based or community-based exercise in the elderly and participants with mild cognitive impairment, with the results focused only on functional performance outcome (46, 48). However, there is no evidence that home-based exercise in the form of resistance exercise can improve cognitive function in older people with mild cognitive impairment. In addition, both of aerobic exercise and resistance exercise were found to

be effective in improving cognitive function but there are limited studies comparing aerobic exercise and resistance exercise in elderly with mild cognitive impairment.



CHAPTER 3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter focused on the research methodology for comparing the effect of home-based aerobic exercise and home-based resistance exercise on the cognitive and physical functions in older persons with mild cognitive impairment. These objectives were assessed in three group of participants; aerobic exercise group, resistance exercise group and the control group who did not perform any exercise training.

Study design

A single-blind randomized controlled trial

Study population

Sample size

There were 3 group of participants. The sample size was calculated using the G*Power program, which determined 80% power, the α level of 0.05 and the effect size of 0.3 (143). The sample size were 75 participants (25 participants per group) and when adding 20% drop out, the total sample size were 90 participants (30 participants per group).

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

All participants were recruited using the following criteria:

Inclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria of participants were as followed:

- 1. Aged 60 years and older.
- 2. Live in Pathum Thani province.
- 3. Having mild cognitive impairment as measured by Thai version of

the Montreal cognitive Assessment (MoCA), score between 17 – 24 points.

4. Able to stand and walk independently (with or without assistive

device).

5. Able to follow verbal instruction.

Exclusion criteria

The exclusion criteria of participants were as followed:

1. Have been diagnosed with dementia.

2. History or diagnosed with neurological diseases, such as stroke,

traumatic brain injury.

3. History or diagnosed with cardiovascular diseases, such as myocardial infarction (MI).

4. Having resting blood pressure > 160/100 mmHg.

5. Severe musculoskeletal conditions that disturbing or limiting to follow the exercise program.

6. Having visual and/or hearing impairment that could not be correct with lens and/or hearing aid.

7. Having color blindness and cannot communicate.

8. Participating in other exercise programs.

Termination criteria

In the aerobic and resistance exercise groups, participants were excluded when they were unable to participate in \geq 75% of the exercise program or \geq 1,230 minutes of total exercise duration.

Methods and procedures

First of all, the researchers proposed the research protocol for approval from the human ethics committee of Srinakharinwirot University. After the research protocol was approved, all participants who were interested in the study were invited to participate in this study. Before they were recruited in this study, Thai version of Montreal Cognitive Assessment was used for screening mild cognitive impairment, with a score between 17 – 24 points by physical therapists. After that, the participants were informed about the objectives, procedure, benefits, and possible risks of this study before participation. Then, the participants who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria signed a consent form. All participants with mild cognitive impairment in this study were randomly stratified by age and education levels into three groups by rater 1, 1) aerobic

exercise group, 2) resistance exercise group and 3) control group. The home-based exercise was designed with the concern of safety issue such that participants could perform these exercises independently with no risk of fall or physical injury.

All types of training were performed 5 days per week for 3 months by physical therapist (rater 2), each session consisted of a total exercise duration of 35 minutes per day and increase by 5 minutes every 2 weeks. Participants in the aerobic exercise group received an aerobic exercise program at home and were later progressed with increasing number of exercises, number of repetitions and the complexity of the exercises. Participants in the resistance exercise group received a resistance training program using bodyweight, water bottles, etc., and were subsequently progressed by increasing resistance, number of exercises, number of sets or repetitions and the complexity of the exercises as shown in Table 4. Researcher used test results performed prior to exercise (physical performance tests such as 6-minute walk test, 30second chair stand test, 30-second arm curl test) to determine the fitness level and tolerance of the participant for prescribing the exercise intensity suitable to the fitness level of individual participants. Training programs were explained to the participants in both aerobic and resistance exercise groups and verified on the day of the first program administration before the participants to do the exercises at home to ensure the correction and safety of exercise when performing at home and a separate exercise manual was provided for each group. The Borg Rating of Perceived Exertion scale was also explained so that participants could accurately rate themselves. Participants in the control group were allowed to continue their usual daily life activities.

Table 4 Training program

Maaka	Duration	Exe	ercise groups
Weeks	(mins/day)	Aerobic exercise	Resistance exercise
		Example of exercise	Example of exercise
1 - 2	35	- Low impact exercise:	- Start 6 to 8 exercises with
		indoor walk/march in	repetitions based on physical
		place, step in difference	performance tests
		directions and plus arm	- 30 to 60 seconds rest between
3 - 4	40	movement	sets
		- Light to moderate	- Shoulder flexion, abduction
		intensity (≤ 15 point of	- Elbow flexion, extension
		Borg scale)	- Hip extension, abduction
5 - 6	45	Progression	- Knee extension
		- increase number of	- Plantar flexion
		exercises, number of	- Wall push up
		repetitions and the	- Step ups
7 - 8	50	complexity of the	- If the participants complete the
	exercises		exercise before the determined
	ex		exercise time, they will be asked
			to perform light exercise such as
9 - 10	1055stretching wrist, fi		stretching wrist, finger, ankle and
			toe movements in sitting until the
			exercise time is completed.
		-	Progression
11 - 12	60		- increase resistance, number of
			exercises, number of sets or
			repetitions and the complexity of
			the exercises

The outcome measures were collected before and after 1, 2 and 3 months of exercise and follow-up 3 months after the end of the exercise program by rater 3 who had experience in using the measurement and were blinded to the group of the participant. Cognitive functions were assessed by psychologists and physical functions were assessed by physiotherapists. The Stroop Color and Word Test (SCWT), Digit Span Test (DST), Trail Making Test (TMT) and Stick Design Test (SDT) were used to assess cognitive functions which were performed in the random order with rest between tests and Timed Up and Go Test with manual task (TUG-M), 6-minute walk test (6MWT) and 30-second chair stand test were used to assess physical functions which were performed in the random of 12 weeks; exercise adherence (%) = (The amount of time participants exercised/The total exercise duration) x 100. The testing procedures were summarized in Figure 1.





Figure 1 Flow diagram of the study

Intervention

Aerobic exercise group

Participants in the aerobic exercise group performed an aerobic exercise program at home. The participants exercised at light to moderate intensity with a level of exhaustion at \leq 15 point of Borg scale (144) and they were progressed with increasing number of exercises, number of repetitions and the complexity of the exercises by a

physical therapist who visited every 2 weeks. This intervention was performed 15 minutes per day, 5 days per week for 3 months and increased by 5 minutes every 2 weeks. Each session of exercise program was included a 10-minute warm-up and a 10-minute cool-down. The participants received a logbook for recording their exercise to evaluate their compliance to the exercise program. Further, the participants were monitored by phone every week to encourage them to exercise and to ask for problems that might arise.

Resistance exercise group

Participants in the resistance exercise group performed a resistance training program at home. The participants started the exercise with bodyweight, water bottles or items that could find at home and they were progressed with increasing resistance, number of exercises, number of sets or repetitions and the complexity of the exercises by a physical therapist who visited every 2 weeks. This intervention was performed 15 minutes per day, 5 days per week for 3 months and increased by 5 minutes every 2 weeks. Each session of exercise program was included a 10-minute warm-up and a 10-minute cool-down. The participants received a logbook for recording their exercise to evaluate their compliance to the exercise program. Further, the participants were monitored by phone every week to encourage them to exercise and to ask for problems that might arise, same as aerobic exercise group.

Control group

All participants in the control group were allowed to continue their usual daily life activities, except performing any types of exercise or cognitive training until the study was completed. The participants received a logbook for recording their daily routines and were reviewed by phone every week for monitoring their daily activities and problems that may arise similar to those in the exercise groups. In addition, participants in the control group were asked about their behavior on the day of testing every month and verified with the relatives. The exercise programs were informed for the participants in control group after the intervention was completed.

Outcome measurements

Both cognitive and physical outcomes were measured as follows.

Cognitive performance outcomes

The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA)

The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) was a global cognitive function assessment to screen for cognitive impairment. It assessed cognitive function in areas such as executive function, memory, attention, language, orientation, with a score of 30 points. If the participants have less than 6 years of education, a score would be added to those who had been taken the test by 1 point.

The Stroop Color and Word Test (SCWT)

The Stroop Color and Word Test (SCWT) was a neuropsychological test used for assessing inhibitory control that was part of executive function. Stroop color and word test consisted of 3 subtasks. Subtask 1 (W condition): participants were instructed to read the words (red, blue, yellow, green) that printed with black ink. Subtask 2 (C condition): participants were instructed to name the color of the color display and subtask 3 (CW condition): participants were instructed to name the ink color of the printed words (for example, the word "red" was printed in yellow ink then let the participants named that yellow). Participants were required to do correctly and quickly as possible within 45 seconds. The assessors recorded the number of items that had been completed. If the participants name the wrong word or color during the test, the assessors would instruct the participants to name the word or color in the mistaken list again without counting the points for the wrong naming. The scores obtained from 3 subtasks were used to calculate the interference score (IG) using the formula; IG = CW - $[(W \times C)/(W + C)]$ (145).

The Digit Span Test (DST)

The digit span test (DST) was a neuropsychological test used to assess the short-term memory and working memory. Digit span test generally consisted of two parts: forward and backward digit span test. Forward digit span test required participants to repeat the numbers in the same order that the assessor read, and backward digit span test required participants to repeat the numbers in the reverse order from the assessor. The length of the number set was from 2-10 numbers, each number set was tested 3 times in a set. If participants answer correctly 2 times, they would pass that number set. This test was finished when the set of numbers was not passed (146).

The Trail Making Test (TMT)

The Trail Making Test (TMT) was a neuropsychological test of attention and mental flexibility. Part A (TMT-A) required participants to draw a line to connect 25 encircled numbers distributed on a page without lifting up pen or pencil. Part B (TMT-B) was similar, except participants had to alternate between numbers and letters sequentially by using the Trail Making Test – Thai Modification (147). Both parts were timed, and the score showed the amount of time required to complete the task. If participants make an error, point out the error and correct it. Time to correct error was included in the completion time for the task (148).

The Stick Design Test (SDT)

The Stick Design Test (SDT) was a neuropsychological test used to assess the visuoconstructional reasoning that was part of perceptual-motor function. The assessor demonstrated the arrangement of matches one by one from 4 predetermined patterns before letting the participant performed the test. After that, the assessor collected all the matches and requireed participants to put the matches in order according to the sample shown by the assessor. Scoring criteria were based on the correctness of the general figure, orientation of the whole figure, and orientation of the match heads within the figure. If the participants do it correctly, they would receive 3 points per figure, with total score 12 points (79).

Physical performance outcomes

The Timed Up and Go Test (TUG)

This study administered the timed up and go with manual task (TUG-M) that required participants to carry a full cup of water while walking (149). The Timed Up and Go Test (TUG) was used to assess mobility, balance and walking ability. It required participants to sit in the chair with their back against the backrest and both feet on the floor. After the assessor commanded "go", the participants stood up independently from a sitting position, walked along a 3 meters walkway as fast as the participants felt safe and comfortable, turned around the cone, walked back to the chair and sat down. Timing was recorded at the assessor commanded "go" until the participants sat down with back against the backrest of the chair (150). The participants might use their hands to push up when got up from the chair and might use gait assistive device that they normally used while performing the test but might not be assisted by another person. The assessor recorded gait assistive device.

The 6-Minute Walk Test (6MWT)

The six-minute walk test (6MWT) was used to assess aerobic capacity or endurance. Participants were instructed to walk with preferred walking speed as far as possible in 6 minutes. They were not allowed to talk during walking and were notified of each minute left. They could use an assistive device that they normally used while performing the test and might take a rest as needed if they feel tired or discomfort while time was still ongoing. The assessor recorded the number of rests taken, the total rest time and an assistive device. Walking distance was measured in meters over 6 minutes (151). This test was performed for 1 time and data was used for study.

The 30-second Chair Stand Test

The 30-second chair stand test was used to assess lower extremity strength. This test required participants to sit in the middle of the chair with back straight, both feet on the floor and arms folded across the chest. Participants were instructed to fully stand alternately with fully sit as many as possible within 30 seconds. This test was performed for 1 time and could be practiced a repetition or 2 before the test. The score was the total number of the completion of stands within 30 seconds. If the participants use their hands to push up when stood up from the chair, they would be scored 0 point (152).

The 30-second Arm Curl Test

The 30-second arm curl test was used to assess upper extremity strength. This test was performed before starting an exercise program to determine the appropriate exercise intensity for each participant's fitness. The 30-second arm curl test required participants to sit in the chair, holding the weight on the dominant arm side with palm facing to the body (women used 5 pounds and men used 8 pounds). Participants were instructed to bend their arm up and lower their arm down through range of motion as many as possible within 30 seconds. During the test, the participant's upper arm was be braced against the body so that only the lower arm could move (the assessor might help to hold the participant's upper arm). This test was performed for 1 time. The score was the total number of the completion of arm curl within 30 seconds (152).

Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed using Statistics program IBM- SPSS version 22 for Windows. Descriptive statistics were used to describe general characteristics of the participants. These analyses included all participants according to the intent-to-treat principle. Missing data at follow-up were replaced with post-training data. The distribution of all data calculated by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test showed it was not normal distribution so the Kruskal-Wallis test were used for comparison between 3 groups at pre-training, post-training and follow-up period. The Wilcoxon Signed Ranks test was used to compare the effect of exercise on cognitive and physical variables within groups and the Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the effects of exercise on cognitive and physical variables between groups. The statistical significance in this study was set at 0.05. Effect sizes were calculated to estimate the magnitude of differences in outcome variables between groups. The criteria for interpreting 0.2, 0.5 and 0.8 were small, medium and large effects, respectively (153). Data are reported as the mean ± SD across all outcome variables and 95% CI in comparisons of outcome variables between groups.

CHAPTER 4 RESULTS

Subject characteristics and pre-training assessments before starting the exercise program are presented in Table 5. A total of 90 subjects with an average age of 69.00 ± 5.03 years completed the 3-month exercise program. All 3 groups had similar characteristics, with the majority being female, having less than 6 years of education, doing housework, and low physical activity levels (<600 MET minute per week). The exception is for marital status where most of the resistance groups are married, while the majority of the other two groups were single. In addition, all cognitive variables, including MoCA, TMT-A, TMT-B, SCWT, DST-F, DST-B and SDT, as well as physical variables (TUG-M, 6MWT and 30-second chair stand test) were not different among three groups at pre-training.



	All part	icipants	Aerob	ic group	Resistar	nce group	Contr	ol group
	(N =	= 90)	(N	= 30)	(N	= 30)	(N	= 30)
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
Female	71	78.89	24	80.00	23	76.67	24	80.00
Marital status (Marriage)	46	51.11	14	46.67	19	63.33	13	43.33
Education level								
(Academic years ≤ 6)	48	53.33	16	53.33	16	53.33	16	53.33
Employment status								
Employment	16	17.78	6	20.00	5	16.67	5	16.67
Unemployment	15	16.67	5	16.67	3	10.00	7	23.33
Housework	59	65.56	19	63.33	22	73.33	18	60.00
Level of physical activity (MET minu	utes per v	veek)						
Low (< 600)	51	56.67	18	60.00	17	56.67	16	53.33
Moderate (600 – 1,500)	29	32.22	7	23.33	9	30.00	13	43.33
High (≥ 1,500)	10	11.11	5	16.67	4	13.33	1	3.33
	Mear	n (SD)	Mean (SD)		Mean (SD)		Меа	an (SD)
Age (years)	69.00 (5.03)		68.60 (4.86)		68.70) (4.72)	69.7	0 (5.55)
MoCA (score)	20.06 (1.94)		20.1	7 (2.09)	19.60) (1.83)	20.4	0 (1.87)
TMT-A (second)	71.32 (38.37)		60.01 (17.41)		77.50 (40.33)		76.45	5 (48.88)
TMT-B (second)	199.88 (161.00)		174.95 (174.26)		185.64 (157.66)		239.04	4 (147.96)
SCWT (score)	-13.62	2 (6.98)	-13.66 (6.43)		-15.61 (6.10)		-11.59 (7.92)	
DST-F (score)	6.23	(1.26)	6.27 (1.34)		5.93 (1.11)		6.50 (1.31)	
DST-B (score)	2.86	(0.53)	2.90	(0.61)	2.77	(0.50)	2.90) (0.48)
SDT (score)	9.26	(1.50)	9.27	(1.53)	9.30	(1.47)	9.20) (1.56)
TUG-M (second)	15.28	(3.88)	14.5	6 (3.02)	16.21	l (4.32)	15.0	8 (4.13)
6MWT (meter)	366.01	(53.53)	362.03	3 (42.40)	364.20) (51.24)	371.8	0 (65.69)
30-second chair stand test (score)	12.28	(2.33)	12.9) (2.51)	11.97	7 (2.28)	11.9	7 (2.13)

Table 5 Subject characteristics and pre-training neuropsychological assessments and physical performance

Abbreviations: DST-F = Forward Digit Span Test; DST-B = Backward Digit Span Test; MET = Metabolic Equivalent of

Task; MoCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment; SCWT = Stroop Color and Word Test; SDT = Stick Design Test; TMT =

Trail Making Test; TUG-M = Timed Up and Go Test with manual task, 6MWT = six-minute walk test

Within group effect

Participants in the aerobic and resistance exercise groups showed high adherence to the exercise program with $94.83 \pm 3.48\%$ and $96.67 \pm 3.16\%$, respectively with exercising on average 3 - 5 days per week. All participants had an exhaustion level range from 8 to 13, with participants in the aerobic group reported the exhaustion level with the median of 11 from Borg scale which was the same median value as those in the resistance group. After exercise, no participants reported any serious adverse effects, only muscle fatigue and those symptoms improved after resting. The effects of exercise on cognitive and physical performance within each group; aerobic, resistance and control group, during 3-month post-training and follow-up, compared to pre-training are shown in Table 6. Both aerobic and resistance groups demonstrated significant improvement on global cognitive function as measured by MoCA, during post-training and able to sustain until follow-up. With the exception of stick design test (SDT), improvement in all specific cognitive functions, including TMT-A, TMT-B, SCWT, DST-F, DST-B and TUG-M, were also evident in both aerobic and resistance groups during post-training and follow-up. However, 6MWT of the aerobic group showed significant improvement at post-training and follow-up, while the 30-second chair stand test found improvement only in the resistance group. The effect sizes of all outcome variables within groups for both the aerobic and resistance groups ranged between 0.35 and 0.62. In contrast, control group did not show the improvement in cognitive and physical performance at post-training and follow-up.

	Aerob	ic group (N = 3	30)	Resistar	ice group (N =	= 30)	Contro	ol group (N = 3	30)
Outcome measures	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size
			95% CI			95% CI			95% CI
MoCA (score)			£ 6.	-					
Pre-training	20.17 (2.09)			19.60 (1.83)			20.40 (1.87)		
Post-training	25.40 (2.54)	25.93	0.62*	24.53 (2.90)	25.15	0.61*	21.17 (2.77)	3.77	0.18
			[4.61, 5.86]			[4.04, 5.82]			[-1.89, 0.36]
Follow-up	24.63 (2.67)	22.11	0.62* \$	23.47 (3.21)	19.74	0.59* \$	21.70 (3.56)	6.37	0.22
			[3.63, 5.30]		17	[2.89, 4.84]			[-2.68, 0.08]
TMT-A (second)			1×10 -	-	6				
Pre-training	60.01 (17.41)			77.50 (40.33)			76.45 (48.88)		
Post-training	39.53 (10.70)	-34.13	-0.59*	45.83 (22.92)	-40.86	-0.62*	65.68 (36.37)	-14.09	-0.25
		Ľ	25.51, -15.45]		Ŀ	39.76, -23.58]			[-1.39, 21.93]
Follow-up	47.75 (16.42)	-20.43	-0.46* ^{\$}	50.91 (27.92)	-34.31	-0.54*	64.96 (31.78)	-15.03	-0.25
			[-17.77, -6.76]		<u> </u>	38.66, -14.52]			[-1.33, 21.63]

.dn

-									
	Aerob	ic group (N =	30)	Resistan	ice group (N =	= 30)	Contro	ol group (N = (30)
Outcome measures	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size
			95% CI			95% CI			95% CI
TMT-B (second)			6 5 .	-					
Pre-training	174.95 (174.26)			185.64 (157.66)			239.04 (147.96)		
Post-training	78.26 (34.08)	-55.27	-0.62*	88.26 (52.83)	-52.46	-0.62*	154.36 (92.64)	-35.43	-0.52*
		-1	156.33, -37.04]		[-]	40.56, -54.19]		[-]	20.51, -48.87]
Follow-up	88.55 (44.77)	-49.39	-0.62* \$	103.22 (68.97)	-44.40	-0.60* \$	160.48 (115.08)	-32.86	-0.60*
		1-1	145.79, -26.99]		[-1	22.50, -42.33]		[-]	08.58, -48.55]
SCWT (score)					6				
Pre-training	-13.66 (6.43)			-15.61 (6.10)			-11.59 (7.92)		
Post-training	-0.38 (6.78)	97.22	0.62*	-4.64 (6.79)	70.28	0.62*	-12.25 (6.46)	-5.69	-0.06
			[11.02, 15.54]			[9.11, 12.82]			[-2.83, 4.15]
Follow-up	-5.14 (8.85)	62.37	0.55* \$	-8.62 (7.75)	44.78	0.59* \$	-11.48 (6.13)	0.95	0.07
			[5.60, 11.42]			[5.11, 8.87]			[-3.64, 3.42]

up. (cont')

	Aerok	oic group (N =	30)	Resista	nce group (N =	= 30)	Contr	ol group (N = (30)
Outcome measures	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size
			95% CI			95% CI			95% CI
DST-F (score)			£ 5	-					
Pre-training	6.27 (1.34)			5.93 (1.11)			6.50 (1.31)		
Post-training	7.90 (1.27)	25.99	0.61*	7.50 (1.20)	26.48	0.59*	6.53 (1.11)	0.46	0.05
			[1.26, 2.01]			[1.19, 1.94]			[-0.41, 0.34]
Follow-up	7.07 (1.20)	12.76	0.48* \$	6.70 (1.32)	12.98	0.41* \$	6.60 (0.93)	1.54	0.06
			[0.48, 1.12]			[0.37, 1.17]			[-0.55, 0.35]
DSR-B (score)					6.9				
Pre-training	2.90 (0.61)			2.77 (0.50)			2.90 (0.48)		
Post-training	3.67 (1.09)	26.55	0.47*	3.40 (0.77)	22.74	0.46*	3.00 (0.59)	3.45	0.12
			[0.45, 1.09]			[0.37, 0.90]			[-0.33, 0.13]
Follow-up	3.47 (1.14)	19.66	0.40*	3.17 (0.59)	14.44	0.38*	3.07 (0.52)	5.86	0.22
			[0.25, 0.89]			[0.17, 0.63]			[-0.36, 0.31]

up. (cont')

	Aerot	bic group (N = 1	30)	Resista	ance group (N :	= 30)	Contr	ol group (N = 3	30)
Outcome measures	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size
			95% CI			95% CI			95% CI
SDT (score)			J. 5	-					
Pre-training	9.27 (1.53)			9.30 (1.47)			9.20 (1.56)		
Post-training	9.67 (1.49)	4.31	0.22	9.77 (1.63)	5.05	0.20	9.47 (1.41)	2.93	0.13
			[-0.84, 0.05]			[-1.04, 0.10]			[-0.92, 0.38]
Follow-up	9.47 (1.17)	2.16	0.08	9.50 (1.31)	2.15	0.07	9.33 (1.40)	1.41	0.07
			[-0.79, 0.39]			[-0.76, 0.36]			[-0.69, 0.43]
TUG-M (second)					6.0				
Pre-training	14.56 (3.02)			16.21 (4.32)			15.08 (4.13)		
Post-training	11.24 (1.79)	-22.80	-0.62*	11.94 (3.07)	-26.34	-0.62*	15.38 (5.55)	1.99	0.01
			[-4.08, -2.55]			[-5.11, -3.42]			[-1.85, 1.26]
Follow-up	13.03 (3.73)	-10.51	-0.37* \$	13.66 (3.73)	-15.73	-0.44* \$	15.26 (5.79)	1.19	0.04
			[-2.96, -0.09]			[-3.79, -1.29]			[-1.86, 1.52]

up. (conť')									
	Aerobi	ic group (N = 3	30)	Resista	nce group (N =	= 30)	Contr	ol group (N = ;	30)
Outcome measures	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size
			95% CI			95% CI			95% CI
6MWT (meter)			S 8 .	-					
Pre-training	362.03 (42.40)			364.20 (51.24)			371.80 (65.69)		
Post-training	425.40 (43.86)	17.50	0.62*	379.67 (62.27)	4.25	0.26	382.33 (61.26)	2.83	0.19
			[52.30, 74.43]			[-33.77, 2.84]			[-29.20, 8.14]
Follow-up	393.50 (58.48)	8.69	0.40* \$	369.43 (64.85)	1.44	0.05	364.77 (68.33)	-1.89	-0.14
			[13.49, 49.44]		- 1 - 1	-25.86, 15.39]			[-11.49, 25.56]
30-seond chair stand	test (score)		12 · ·	-	60				
Pre-training	12.90 (2.51)			11.97 (2.28)			11.97 (2.13)		
Post-training	13.37 (2.59)	3.64	0.16	13.53 (2.93)	13.03	0.39*	12.43 (2.43)	3.84	0.13
			[-1.17, 0.24]			[0.61, 2.53]			[-1.38, 0.45]
Follow-up	13.03 (2.36)	1.01	0.07	13.17 (3.13)	10.03	0.35*	12.40 (2.06)	3.59	0.14
			[-0.66, 0.39]			[0.35, 2.05]			[-1.23, 0.36]
Abbreviations: DST-F =	: Forward Digit Span T	est; DST-B = Ba	ckward Digit Span	Test; MoCA = Montre	eal Cognitive Ass	essment; SCWT =	Stroop Color and Wo	rd Test; SDT = S	tick Design

Test; TMT = Trail Making Test; TUG-M = Timed Up and Go Test with manual task, 6MWT = six-minute walk test (Negative values of TMT-A, TMT-B and TUG-M mean improvement)

* Indicates statistical significance compared with the pre-training at p<0.05, ^s Indicates statistical significance compared with the post-training at p<0.05.

Between group effect

The effects of exercise on cognitive and physical performance when compared between 3 groups: aerobic group, resistance group, and control group at pre-training, 3 months post-training and follow-up are shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3. Details on 95%CI and effect size of each pair comparison during post-training and follow-up are listed in Table 7. As compared to the control group, aerobic group differed significantly in MoCA, TMT-A, TMT-B and SCWT at post-training and follow-up. However, DST-F, DST-B, TUG-M and 6MWT of the aerobic group showed higher improvement than the control group only at post-training. For the resistance group, this group significantly improved in MoCA and TMT-B than the control group at post-training and follow-up, while TMT-A, SCWT, DST-F, DST-B, TUG-M and 30-second chair stand test of this group differed from the control group only at the post-training. Effect sizes of all outcome variables between the aerobic and the control group and the resistance and the control group were in the range of 0.30 - 0.68 and 0.26 - 0.52, respectively. However, there were no differences in cognitive and physical performances after training between aerobic and resistance group, except the inhibitory control and aerobic endurance as measured by SCWT and 6MWT, respectively that significantly better in the aerobic group than the resistance group at post-training and the effect sizes of SCWT and 6MWT were 0.29 and 0.37, respectively.

	Aero	bic & Control	Resist	ance & Control	Aerobic	& Resistance		
Outcome measures	Effect size	95% CI	Effect size	95% CI	Effect size	95% CI		
MoCA								
Post-training	0.64*	[2.86, 5.61]	0.52*	[1.90, 4.83]	0.15	[-0.54, 2.28]		
Follow-up	0.42*	[1.30, 4.56]	0.26*	[0.13, 3.52]	0.18	[-0.36, 2.70]		
TMT-A								
Post-training	-0.54*	[-40.22, -12.08]	-0.39*	[-35.62, -4.08]	-0.09	[-15.62, 3.03]		
Follow-up	-0.30*	[-30.38, -4.05]	-0.30	[-29.52, 1.41]	-0.01	[-15.06, 8.74]		
TMT-B			E J					
Post-training	-0.56*	[-112.62, -39.57]	-0.46*	[-105.29, -26.91]	-0.06	[-33.06, 13.06]		
Follow-up	-0.35*	[-117.58, -26.27]	-0.27*	[-106.52, -7.99]	-0.08	[-44.83, 15.48]		
SCWT		/						
Post-training	0.68*	[8.45, 15.29]	0.51*	[4.19, 11.03]	0.29*	[0.76, 7.77]		
Follow-up	0.41*	[2.39, 10.28]	0.24	[-0.75, 6.48]	0.21	[-0.83, 7.78]		
DST-F			L-L-L,					
Post-training	0.50*	[0.75, 1.98]	0.38*	[0.37, 1.56]	0.17	[-0.24, 1.04]		
Follow-up	0.22	[-0.09, 1.02]	0.04	[-0.49, 0.69]	0.14	[-0.29, 1.02]		
DST-B								
Post-training	0.38*	[0.21, 1.12]	0.29*	[0.05, 0.75]	0.10	[-0.22, 0.76]		
Follow-up	0.19	[-0.06, 0.86]	0.11	[-0.19, 0.39]	0.09	[-0.17, 0.77]		
SDT								
Post-training	0.12	[-0.55, 0.95]	0.10	[-0.49, 1.09]	-0.03	[-0.91, 0.71]		
Follow-up	0.03	[-0.53, 0.80]	0.05	[-0.53, 0.87]	-0.03	[-0.67, 0.61]		
TUG-M								
Post-training	-0.54*	[-6.30, -1.98]	-0.37*	[-5.77, -1.11]	-0.11	[-2.00, 0.61]		
Follow-up	-0.23	[-4.75, 0.30]	-0.12	[-4.12, 0.93]	-0.12	[-2.56, 1.30]		
6MWT								
Post-training	0.37*	[15.47, 70.66]	0.01	[-34.59, 29.26]	0.37*	[17.83, 73.64]		
Follow-up	0.18	[-4.15, 61.62]	0.03	[-29.76, 39.10]	0.18	[-7.85, 55.99]		
Table 7 Compari	son of changes	in cognitive	function	domains	and p	hysical	performa	ance
-----------------	-----------------	---------------	-----------	------------	-------	---------	----------	------
outcomes betwe	en groups at pc	st-training a	nd follow	/-up. (con	ť)			

	Aerob	ic & Control	Resistar	nce & Control	Aerobic	& Resistance
Outcome measures	Effect size	95% CI	Effect size	95% CI	Effect size	95% CI
30-second chair stan	d test					
Post-training	0.19	[-0.37, 2.23]	0.27*	[0.29, 2.49]	0.11	[-1.60, 1.26]
Follow-up	0.09	[-0.51, 1.78]	0.10	[-0.61, 2.14]	0.01	[-1.57, 1.30]

Abbreviations: DST-F = Forward Digit Span Test; DST-B = Backward Digit Span Test; MoCA = Montreal Cognitive

Assessment; SCWT = Stroop Color and Word Test; SDT = Stick Design Test; TMT = Trail Making Test; TUG-M =

Timed Up and Go Test with manual task, 6MWT = six-minute walk test

* Indicates statistical significance at p<0.05





۰.





Figure 2 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains between the 3 groups at post-training and follow-up

* Significance compared with the pre-training at p<0.05; † Significance compared with the control group during the same time at p<0.05; ‡ Significance compared with the resistance group during the same time at p<0.05.



Figure 3 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains and physical performances between the 3 groups at post-training and follow-up

* Significance compared with the pre-training at p<0.05; \dagger Significance compared with the control group during the same time at p<0.05; \ddagger Significance compared with the resistance group during the same time at p<0.05.

Cognitive and physical performance changes during each month of training

Changes in cognitive and physical performance after receiving the exercise program at 1, 2 and 3 months in each group; aerobic group, resistance group, and control group are shown in Table 8. Both aerobic and resistance groups showed significant improvements in MoCA, SCWT and TUG-M at 2 months post-training, while no changes were found in other variables during 1-month and 2-month after training. There were also significant improvements in the 6MWT and 30-second chair stand test in the aerobic and resistance groups, respectively, after 2 months post-training. The effect sizes of all outcome variables within groups ranged of 0.47 - 0.62 and 0.34 - 0.62 for the aerobic and resistance groups, respectively. In contrast, the control group did not demonstrate any improvement in cognitive and physical performance over 1-2 months. This suggested that the earliest significant improvement of MoCA, SCWT, TUG-M, 6MWT and 30-second chair stand test were evident after 2 months after training. However, both aerobic and resistance groups significantly improved in all variables at 3 months post-training except the SDT.

	30)	Effect size	95% CI			0.11	[-1.04, 0.71]	0.11	[-1.71, 0.71]	0.18	[-1.89, 0.36]			-0.07	[-5.05, 14.28]	-0.06	[-9.02, 15.05]	-0.25	[-1.39, 21.93]
	ol group (N = 3	% change				0.83		2.45		3.77				-6.04		-3.95		-14.09	
	Contro	Mean (SD)			20.40 (1.87)	20.57 (2.51)		20.90 (2.66)		21.17 (2.77)			76.45 (48.88)	71.83 (47.93)		73.43 (41.52)		65.68 (36.37)	
	= 30)	Effect size	95% CI			0.18	[-1.77, 0.17]	0.56*	[1.44, 2.56]	0.61*	[4.04, 5.82]			-0.05	[-10.27, 23.63]	-0.16	[-5.35, 30.38]	-0.62*	-39.76, -23.58]
	nce group (N	% change				4.08		10.20		25.15	5	1.0		-8.62		-16.14		-40.86]
•	Resista	Mean (SD)			19.60 (1.83)	20.40 (1.94)		21.60 (2.59)		24.53 (2.90)			77.50 (40.33)	70.82 (37.28)		64.99 (34.71)		45.83 (22.92)	
	30)	Effect size	95% CI			0.21	[-2.12, 0.25]	0.57*	[1.83, 3.04]	0.62*	[4.61, 5.86]	5,00		-0.12	[-1.83, 11.34]	-0.20	[-0.55, 18.02]	-0.59*	25.51, -15.45]
)	ic group (N = 3	% change				4.61		12.05		25.93				-7.92		-14.55		-34.13	Ľ
)	Aerobi	Mean (SD)			20.17 (2.09)	21.10 (1.90)		22.60 (2.36)		25.40 (2.54)			60.01 (17.41)	55.26 (15.10)		51.28 (14.41)		39.53 (10.70)	
		Outcome measures		MoCA (score)	Pre-training	1-month		2-month		3-month		TMT-A (second)	Pre-training	1-month		2-month		3-month	

Table 8 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains and physical performance outcomes in each group at 1, 2 and 3 months.

)))		
	Aerobi	c group (N =	30)	Resistar	ice group (N =	= 30)	Contro	ol group (N = 3	30)
Outcome measures	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size
			95% CI			95% CI			95% CI
TMT-B (second)									
Pre-training	174.95 (174.26)			185.64 (157.66)			239.04 (147.96)		
1-month	155.11 (129.45)	-11.34	-0.13	160.10 (118.69)	-13.76	-0.08	220.73 (145.15)	-7.66	-0.16
			[-31.01, 70.68]			-32.39, 83.46]			-16.08, 52.70]
2-month	123.63 (108.84)	-29.33	-0.30	129.69 (82.19)	-30.13	-0.27	182.46 (122.56)	-23.6	-0.42
			.15.54, 118.17]		31	-2.94, 108.95]			[-2.54, 87.73]
3-month	78.26 (34.08)	-55.27	-0.62*	88.26 (52.83)	-52.46	-0.62*	154.36 (92.64)	-35.43	-0.52*
		Ľ	156.33, -37.04]		E	40.56, -54.19]		[-]	20.51, -48.87]
SCWT (score)					1 J. O				
Pre-training	-13.66 (6.43)			-15.61 (6.10)			-11.59 (7.92)		
1-month	-11.08 (5.99)	18.89	0.22	-13.70 (5.79)	12.24	0.15	-12.08 (7.03)	-4.23	-0.09
			[-6.13, 0.98]			[-4.57, 0.75]			[-2.58, 3.56]
2-month	-8.28 (6.20)	39.39	0.59*	-11.69 (5.91)	25.11	0.57*	-11.99 (7.29)	-3.45	-0.04
			[3.76, 6.99]			[2.61, 5.22]			[-3.32, 4.12]
3-month	-0.38 (6.78)	97.22	0.62*	-4.64 (6.79)	70.28	0.62*	-12.25 (6.46)	-5.69	-0.06
			[11.02, 15.54]			[9.11, 12.82]			[-2.83, 4.15]

Table 8 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains and physical performance outcomes in each group at 1.2 and 3 months. (cont')

	Aerobi	ic group (N = 3	30)	Resista	nce group (N =	: 30)	Contr	ol group (N = 3	(0)
Outcome measures	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size
			95% CI			95% CI			95% CI
DST-F (score)									
Pre-training	6.27 (1.34)			5.93 (1.11)			6.50 (1.31)		
1-month	6.57 (1.04)	4.78	0.11	6.27 (1.08)	5.73	0.14	6.50 (1.20)	00.0	0.00
			[-0.86, 0.26]			[-0.92, 0.25]			[-0.43, 0.43]
2-month	6.73 (1.26)	7.34	0.20	6.40 (1.04)	7.93	0.24	6.53 (1.20)	0.46	0.02
			[-1.05, 0.12]			[-1.08, 0.14]			[-0.52, 0.45]
3-month	7.90 (1.27)	25.99	0.61*	7.50 (1.20)	26.48	0.59*	6.53 (1.11)	0.46	0.05
			[1.26, 2.01]		6 3	[1.19, 1.94]			[-0.41, 0.34]
DSR-B (score)				-	6.2.0				
Pre-training	2.90 (0.61)			2.77 (0.50)			2.90 (0.48)		
1-month	3.07 (0.74)	5.86	0.13	2.90 (0.48)	4.69	0.21	3.03 (0.56)	4.48	0.16
			[-0.48, 0.14]			[-0.29, 0.08]			[-0.35, 0.80]
2-month	3.20 (0.85)	10.34	0.24	3.00 (0.45)	8.30	0.34	3.03 (0.32)	4.48	0.21
			[-0.61, 0.12]			[-0.39, 0.07]			[-0.29, 0.29]
3-month	3.67 (1.09)	26.55	0.47*	3.40 (0.77)	22.74	0.46*	3.00 (0.59)	3.45	0.12
			[0.45, 1.09]			[0.37, 0.90]			[-0.33, 0.13]

Table 8 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains and physical performance outcomes in each group at 1, 2 and 3 months. (cont')

	Aerobi	c group (N = :	30)	Resista	nce group (N =	: 30)	Contr	ol group (N = 3	(0)
Outcome measures	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size
			95% CI			95% CI			95% CI
SDT (score)									
Pre-training	9.27 (1.53)			9.30 (1.47)			9.20 (1.56)		
1-month	9.37 (1.65)	1.08	0.08	9.47 (1.43)	1.83	0.09	9.37 (1.56)	1.85	0.09
			[-0.55, 0.35]			[-0.77, 0.44]			[-0.70, 0.37]
2-month	9.53 (1.72)	2.80	0.13	9.60 (1.63)	3.23	0.14	9.40 (1.77)	2.17	0.08
			[-0.75, 0.21]			[-0.86, 0.26]			[-0.70, 0.30]
3-month	9.67 (1.49)	4.31	0.22	9.77 (1.63)	5.05	0.20	9.47 (1.41)	2.93	0.13
			[-0.84, 0.05]	-	63	[-1.04, 0.10]			[-0.92, 0.38]
TUG-M (second)									
Pre-training	14.56 (3.02)			16.21 (4.32)			15.08 (4.13)		
1-month	13.81 (2.50)	-5.15	-0.10	15.09 (3.96)	-6.91	-0.15	14.68 (3.37)	-2.65	-0.08
			[-0.57, 2.07]			[-0.69, 2.94]			[-0.47, 1.27]
2-month	13.19 (2.11)	-9.41	-0.58*	14.33 (3.76)	-11.59	-0.59*	16.25 (3.97)	7.76	0.31
			[-2.00, -0.74]			[-2.60, -1.16]			[-2.32, 0.10]
3-month	11.24 (1.79)	-22.80	-0.62*	11.94 (3.07)	-26.34	-0.62*	15.38 (5.55)	1.99	0.01
			[-4.08, -2.55]			[-5.11, -3.42]			[-1.85, 1.26]

Table 8 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains and physical performance outcomes in each group at 1, 2 and 3 months. (cont')

	Aerobi	ic group (N =)	30)	Resistar	: N) dnotb act	= 30)	Contro	ol group (N = .	30)
Outcome measures	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size	Mean (SD)	% change	Effect size
			95% CI			95% CI			95% CI
6MWT (meter)									
Pre-training	362.03 (42.40)			364.20 (51.24)			371.80 (65.69)		
1-month	376.37 (44.68)	3.96	0.27	364.60 (59.47)	0.11	0.01	367.90 (55.93)	-1.05	-0.09
			[-25.75, 2.92]		1	[-18.95, 18.18]			[-14.45, 22.25]
2-month	388.10 (45.84)	7.20	0.59*	378.57 (61.28)	3.95	0.17	364.77 (58.07)	-1.62	-0.11
			[16.85, 35.29]			[-32.61, 3.88]			[-13.09, 25.16]
3-month	425.40 (43.86)	17.50	0.62*	379.67 (62.27)	4.25	0.26	382.33 (61.26)	2.83	0.19
			[52.30, 74.43]		3	[-33.77, 2.84]			[-29.20, 8.14]
30-seond chair stand	test (score)				1.0				
Pre-training	12.90 (2.51)			11.97 (2.28)			11.97 (2.13)		
1-month	13.13 (2.47)	1.78	0.07	12.07 (2.32)	0.84	0.04	12.13 (2.35)	1.34	0.03
			[-0.87, 0.41]			[-0.73, 0.53]			[-0.91, 0.57]
2-month	13.50 (2.30)	4.65	0.19	13.10 (2.50)	944	0.34*	12.23 (2.01)	2.17	0.07
			[-1.39, 0.19]			[0.35, 1.92]			[-1.04, 0.51]
3-month	13.37 (2.59)	3.64	0.16	13.53 (2.93)	13.03	0.39*	12.43 (2.43)	3.84	0.13
			[-1.17, 0.24]			[0.61, 2.53]			[-1.38, 0.45]

Table 8 Comparison of changes in cognitive function domains and physical performance outcomes in each group at 1.2 and 3 months. (cont.)





CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION

This study examined the effects of 2 types of low intensity home-based exercise; aerobic and resistance exercise, on cognitive function in people with mild cognitive impairment. The uniqueness of this study is that it was a single-blind randomized controlled trial to compare the effect of aerobic and resistance exercise programs in the same study. Results revealed that at 3-month post-training, both aerobic and resistance exercises could improve physical performance as well as all cognitive domains, with the exception of perceptual-motor function domain (visuoconstructional reasoning). This study also showed that such improvements were able to maintain up to 3-month after the training (follow-up phase).

The exercise program in this study was classified as low intensity, as evidenced by the exhaustion level of 11 points on the Borg scale (154). Based on FITT-VP principle that include: frequency, intensity, time, type, volume or total amount of exercise, and progression, exercise programs in this study had sufficient exercise volume, adjusted to high frequency and high total duration to induce changes in cognitive function. Additionally, the exercise with low intensity and the initial exercise duration of 15 minutes might be the reason for high exercise adherence of the participants and no drop out from exercise programs. This is because most of the participants in this study had low physical activity levels, when participants started exercising at low intensity and short periods of time, participants did not feel overload and were able to complete the entire program each session. In this study, significantly large changes in scores of SCWT, TMT-A and TMT-B were observed in the aerobic and resistance exercise groups after 3month post-training. A study investigated the minimal clinically important differences (MCID) of SCWT, TMT-A and TMT-B had values of 9.3, 13.0 and 20.1, respectively (155). When compared with this study, it was found that there are clinical changes in executive function (mental flexibility and inhibitory control) and attention (processing speed).

The improvements in cognitive function from aerobic and resistance exercise were in the same lines as the previous research. Regarding low intensity aerobic exercise, a significant increase in cognitive function was supported by Byun K, et al. (156) who concluded that mild aerobic exercise intervention improved executive function, namely inhibitory control in the older adults. Similarly, previous systematic reviews (40-42) suggested that moderate intensity aerobic exercise intervention increased global cognitive function, working memory and attention in older people with mild cognitive impairment. This present study, however, observed improvements in mental flexibility and memory domains that was contrary to previous systematic reviews (26, 41). One possible explanation could by the use of different outcome measures. Previous study had measured delayed recall using an auditory verbal learning test (26) but this study measured short-term memory using DST-F. In the case of mental flexibility, discrepancy may lie in the data for analysis, previous study analyzed data from both aerobic and resistance exercises (41) but this study separated data into either aerobic or resistance exercise.

In addition, the improved cognitive function in this study might be due to the complexity of the exercises. Previous studies had showed that aerobic exercise usually took the form of walking or cycling (26, 117), which was a repetitive movement, with control over the level of exercise intensity. But in this study, the exercise program was designed to move the lower extremities in multiple directions and was progressed by adding the movement of the upper extremities to make the exercise more complicated and challenging, especially for the cognitive function more than walking or cycling even if it is a low intensity aerobic exercise.

With regard to the resistance exercise, this study was in concordance with several studies which suggested the resistance exercise had beneficial effects on global cognitive function (39), working memory (38) and processing speed (124) in older adults with mild cognitive impairment. Along the same line, systematic reviews (36, 37) reported that the resistance training improved global cognitive function, inhibitory control and short-term memory in the adults.

Study on time interval for earliest changes in cognitive function as a result of low intensity exercise are scarce. Previous studies using the low intensity exercise evaluated the effects of low intensity exercise on physical performance (157) or other domains of cognitive function (156, 158). For example, this study observed significant changes of inhibitory control at 2 months post-training, while a previous study found change at 3 months after low intensity aerobic exercise (156). Changes in inhibitory control at these 2 months post-training in this study, however, was only a statistical change, as the scores did not reach the level of clinical change. In comparison with the moderate intensity exercise, moderate intensity aerobic exercise or resistance exercise demonstrated change in executive function at 3 months, but the study did not identify the specific subdomains of executive function (159). Other previous studies demonstrated changes in global cognitive function after 6 weeks of either moderate intensity aerobic or moderate intensity resistance exercise (117, 160). In contrast, this study reported changes in global cognitive function at 2 months or approximately 8 weeks post-training at low intensity. Such disagreement could be due to the exercise intensity, such that moderate intensity led to the improvement in cognitive functions faster than low intensity aerobic or resistance exercise.

As for physical performances, this study was in line with a previous systematic review that found an improvement in lower limb muscle strength and balance by low intensity exercises in older adults (157). Similarly, a study by Kanda K, et al. (161) indicated that low intensity bodyweight training significantly increased in walking ability and lower extremity muscle strength in the elderly. In general, resistance exercise increased muscle strength and power more than aerobic exercise. This is because resistance training caused neuromuscular adaptations, increased in the cross-sectional area of the muscle and changed in connective tissue stiffness (162). While aerobic exercise increased mitochondrial biogenesis and capillary density. This helped the body transport and use oxygen to create energy and when aerobic exercise was performed for a long time, it helped delay the onset of muscle fatigue (163). In addition, resistance exercise for 8 weeks was found to be more likely to improve bone strength (164).

Likewise, low-intensity aerobic exercise significantly increased endurance or aerobic capacity in healthy adult (165) that exercise in aerobic level with a total duration of 120 minutes per week improved recovery and endurance performance in adults. In this study, exercise was performed 5 days per week and took 25-30 minutes to reach aerobic fitness levels in the 2nd month of training which used a total exercise duration similar to a previous study. As a result, endurance changed during the 2 months after training.

Using functional near-infrared spectroscopy, Byun and colleagues found that mild aerobic exercise in older people increased neural activation in the prefrontal cortex during Stroop Color and Word Test (SCWT) (156). The physiological mechanisms provide explanations for the impact of exercises on cognitive function. First, aerobic exercise leads to an increase in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (118, 122) resulted from myokines signaling which are produced from muscles during exercise (166). Increasing BDNF levels from aerobic exercise possibly result in the improvement of cognitive and executive functions. Second, aerobic exercise reduces inflammatory cytokines levels (118) that are the important predictors of mild cognitive impairment progression and enhances physical fitness in older persons with mild cognitive impairment, which is linked to higher levels of BDNF and lower levels of inflammatory cytokines, leading to the improvement of cognitive functions (167). Lastly, aerobic exercise also promotes brain oxygenation during cortical activation of several regions including prefrontal cortex, which affects executive function (168).

Resistance exercise resulted in higher levels of serum insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), which was associated with cognitive function (128, 138). Low serum IGF-1 levels had been correlated to impaired cognitive performance, especially a decrease of information processing speed in older adults (127). Therefore, improved cognitive function following resistance exercise may be explained by increasing serum IGF-1 levels.

Even though the elderly had decreased brain function, the pathophysiological decline associated with neurodegenerative conditions of the nervous system could be

delayed due to its capacity for regeneration and plasticity. In addition to increasing the neurological factors mentioned above, Exercise also increased brain volume (30) and functional connectivity (118) and improves synaptic plasticity (169), which resulted in changes in cognitive function. In addition, continued exercise might affect the levels of neurotrophic factors, which might have an influence to maintain cognitive functions during the 3-month follow-up period.

Another noteworthy point is that a statistically significant increase in TMT-B was found in the control group at 3 months after training program and during the follow-up period. This might be due to the time taken to complete the TMT-B test at baseline in the control group being relatively higher compared to the aerobic and resistance groups. When there were reassessments, participants had a better understanding of the test causing quite a lot of changes in scores. As a result, changes in TMT-B were found.

This study did not find the improvement of visuoconstructional reasoning (as measured by SDT) post exercise training. The unchanged SDT scores could be due to the fact that this test specifically assessed fine motor function and eye-hand coordination. Both aerobic and resistance exercise programs were exercises involving the large muscle groups, not targeting the fine motor skill or eye-hand coordination. As a result, no distinct improvement of fine motor function and eye-hand coordination was observed in this study.

Until now, the effects of aerobic and resistance exercises have not been directly compared in a single study, except this study. In comparison to the control group, aerobic and resistance group showed similar amount of improvement at post-training in physical performance and all cognitive domains, except visuoconstructional reasoning. We did the follow up assessment at 3-month post-training to assess whether the effect of training could be maintained. This study demonstrated that the aerobic group were able to maintain the positive impact on cognitive function in term of global cognitive function, executive function (mental flexibility and inhibitory control) and attention (processing speed), whereas the improvement of global cognitive function and mental flexibility could be maintained in the resistance group. In addition, the aerobic

group showed better improvement of inhibitory control than the control group at posttraining. This could be because an aerobic exercise led to an increase in circulating neurotrophin levels and gray matter volume in the prefrontal cortex as well as the preservation of neural connection between prefrontal cortex and other regions of the brain (170, 171), which were responsible for the inhibitory control (172). Meanwhile, resistance exercise increased gray matter density in the posterior cingulate cortex and increased functional connectivity among the posterior cingulate cortex, anterior cingulate cortex and hippocampus (173), which is implicated in decision making based on action-outcomes learning and related to memory (174). In addition, the fact that aerobic exercise poses were more complex movements and more rely on the coordination of the body. Moreover, participants in the aerobic group had more effort to memorize exercise moves with the exercises being changed every 2 weeks.

To assess the prolonged effect of exercise training, Law and colleagues (41) reported that cognitive improvements in people with mild cognitive impairment was sustained for 12 weeks or more after the end of the intervention with \geq 21 hours of training durations. In the same line, this study revealed that the improvements were able to sustain after the exercise program up to 3-month, with an average total training duration of 26 hours. But there are also differences in the intensity of exercise that the previous study was of medium to high intensity while this study was of low intensity.

Clinical implications

The findings of this study highlight the importance of exercise in the older adults, as recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO) (45) and the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association (28). The older adults should do regular aerobic exercise and muscle strength training to maintain physical fitness and independence in daily life and reduce the risks of cognitive decline. According to the results of this study, both aerobic and resistance exercises had similar amount of positive impact on cognitive function. Therefore, the older adults can choose either type of exercise to fit their own health conditions and exercise preference. For example, people at risk of cardiovascular disease may prefer aerobic over resistance exercise to prevent holding their breath which could increase the load on the cardiovascular system. Moreover, low intensity exercise is considered as an attractive exercise approach in terms of practicality and effectiveness. In addition, it encourages older people who have sedentary conditions or have limitations that are unable to exercise at a moderate intensity to still receive the benefit of exercise for improving the cognitive function. Finally, Home exercise provides the alternative for people with limited exercise space, who have travel difficulty and this mode of exercise does not require specific exercise equipment.

For the exercise program in this study, it was a low intensity exercise with a level of exhaustion less than 15 points on the Borg scale. It was performed 35 minutes per day (including a 10-minute warm-up and 10-minute cool-down), 5 days per week for 3 months and increased by 5 minutes every 2 weeks. Thereafter, it was progressed with increasing number of exercises, number of sets or repetitions and the complexity of the exercises by a physical therapist who visits every 2 weeks.

Limitations of the study

There are some limitations in this study. The average age of the older adults participated in this study was 69 years, so the results are limited and may not be generalized outside of this age group. Moreover, the results of this study only measure cognitive change, but it is not known what the corresponding neurological changes or biological changes were. Thus, in the future study, the underlying neurobiological mechanisms of low intensity aerobic and resistance exercises should be investigated in order to better understand functional and/or structural changes in the brain.

CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION

In the present study, we revealed that low-intensity aerobic and resistance exercises at home can improve cognitive function in the areas of executive function, attention and memory domains in older persons with mild cognitive impairment, with MoCA and SCWT being the outcomes which improved earliest at 2 months after training, and the effect continued for another 3-month after the training. This results also highlight the feasibility and accessibility of low intensity exercise in the older adults which has important impact on cognition.



REFERENCES

1. Foundation of Thai Gerontology Research and Development Institute. Situation of the Thai elderly 2014. 2014. [Internet]. Available from:

http://www.dop.go.th/download/knowledge/knowledge_th_20161608145327_1.pdf

United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division.
 World Population Prospects: The 2015 Revision, Volume I: Comprehensive Tables. 2015.
 [Internet]. Available from:

https://population.un.org/wpp/Publications/Files/WPP2015_Volume-I_Comprehensive-Tables.pdf

3. Jaul E, Barron J. Age-Related Diseases and Clinical and Public Health Implications for the 85 Years Old and Over Population. Front Public Health. 2017;5:335.

4. Alzheimer's Disease International. Policy Brief for Heads of Government: The Global Impact of Dementia 2013-2050. 2013. [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.alz.co.uk/research/GlobalImpactDementia2013.pdf

5. Alzheimer's Disease International, Alzheimer's Australia. Dementia in the Asia Pacific Region. 2014. [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.alz.co.uk/adi/pdf/Dementia-</u> <u>Asia-Pacific-2014.pdf</u>

Sachdev PS, Blacker D, Blazer DG, Ganguli M, Jeste DV, Paulsen JS, et al.
 Classifying neurocognitive disorders: the DSM-5 approach. Nat Rev Neurol.
 2014;10(11):634-42.

7. World Health Organization. The Epidemiology and Impact of Dementia: Current State and Future Trends. 2015. [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.who.int/mental_health/neurology/dementia/dementia_thematicbrief_epidemiolo gy.pdf?ua=1

8. Sachdev PS, Lipnicki DM, Kochan NA, Crawford JD, Thalamuthu A, Andrews G, et al. The Prevalence of Mild Cognitive Impairment in Diverse Geographical and Ethnocultural Regions: The COSMIC Collaboration. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0142388.

9. Griffiths J, Thaikruea L, Wongpakaran N, Munkhetvit P. Prevalence of Mild

Cognitive Impairment in Rural Thai Older People, Associated Risk Factors and their Cognitive Characteristics. Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra. 2020;10(1):38-45.

Imarb C. Prevalence and Associated Factors of Cognitive Impairment among
 Elderly in Watphleng District, Ratchaburi Province. Journal of Health Science.
 2019;28(5):782-91.

 Rattanawat W, Nakawiro D, Visajan P. Prevalence of Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) in Pre-Retirement Period of Hospital Staff. J Psychiatr Assoc Thailand.
 2018;63(1):55-64.

Petersen RC. Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. J Intern Med.
 2004;256:183-94.

13. Winblad B, Palmer K, Kivipelto M, Jelic V, Fratiglioni L, Wahlund LO, et al. Mild cognitive impairment--beyond controversies, towards a consensus: report of the International Working Group on Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Intern Med. 2004;256(3):240-6.

14. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence Dementia: A NICE-SCIE Guideline on Supporting People With Dementia and Their Carers in Health and Social Care. National Clinical Practice Guideline Number 42. Leicester (UK): The British Psychological Society; 2007. [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.scie.org.uk/publications/misc/dementia/dementia-fullguideline.pdf?res=true

15. Alzheimer's Australia. Dementia Risk Reduction: A Practical Guide for General Practitioners. 2010. [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.dementia.org.au/sites/default/files/Dementia Risk Reduction Guide for GPs. pdf

16. Reijnders J, van Heugten C, van Boxtel M. Cognitive interventions in healthy older adults and people with mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review. Ageing Res Rev. 2013;12(1):263-75.

Hill NT, Mowszowski L, Naismith SL, Chadwick VL, Valenzuela M, Lampit A.
 Computerized Cognitive Training in Older Adults With Mild Cognitive Impairment or
 Dementia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Am J Psychiatry. 2017;174(4):329-40.

Kurz A. Cognitive stimulation, training, and rehabilitation. Dialogues Clin Neurosci.
 2019;21(1):35-41.

19. Lopez-Higes R, Martin-Aragoneses MT, Rubio-Valdehita S, Delgado-Losada ML, Montejo P, Montenegro M, et al. Efficacy of Cognitive Training in Older Adults with and without Subjective Cognitive Decline Is Associated with Inhibition Efficiency and Working Memory Span, Not with Cognitive Reserve. Front Aging Neurosci. 2018;10:23.

20. Brehmer Y, Westerberg H, Backman L. Working-memory training in younger and older adults: training gains, transfer, and maintenance. Front Hum Neurosci. 2012;6:63.

21. Simon SS, Yokomizo JE, Bottino CM. Cognitive intervention in amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment: a systematic review. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2012;36(4):1163-78.

22. Kudlicka A, Martyr A, Bahar-Fuchs A, Woods B, Clare L. Cognitive rehabilitation for people with mild to moderate dementia. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2019.

23. Tsantali E, Economidis D, Rigopoulou S. Testing the Benefits of Cognitive Training vs. Cognitive Stimulation in Mild Alzheimer's Disease: A Randomised Controlled Trial. Brain Impair. 2017;18(2):188-96.

24. Fisher BC. The Benefits of Cognitive Stimulation or Training/Rehabilitation upon Brain Function as an Efficacious Treatment for Diagnosed Dementia or Mild Cognitive Decline. J Alzheimers Dis Parkinsonism. 2014;4(5):161.

25. Song D, Yu DSF, Li PWC, Lei Y. The effectiveness of physical exercise on cognitive and psychological outcomes in individuals with mild cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Nurs Stud. 2018;79:155-64.

26. Ohman H, Savikko N, Strandberg TE, Pitkala KH. Effect of physical exercise on cognitive performance in older adults with mild cognitive impairment or dementia: a systematic review. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2014;38(5-6):347-65.

27. World Health Organization. Global recommendations on physical activity for health.2010. [Internet]. Available from:

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44399/9789241599979_eng.pdf?sequenc e=1

28. Nelson ME, Rejeski WJ, Blair SN, Duncan PW, Judge JO, King AC, et al. Physical

activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2007;116(9):1094-105.

29. Zhang Y, Li C, Zou L, Liu X, Song W. The Effects of Mind-Body Exercise on Cognitive Performance in Elderly: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(12):2791.

30. Mandolesi L, Polverino A, Montuori S, Foti F, Ferraioli G, Sorrentino P, et al. Effects of Physical Exercise on Cognitive Functioning and Wellbeing: Biological and Psychological Benefits. Front Psychol. 2018;9:509.

31. Gates N, Fiatarone Singh MA, Sachdev PS, Valenzuela M. The effect of exercise training on cognitive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2013;21(11):1086-97.

32. Bisbe M, Fuente-Vidal A, Lopez E, Moreno M, Naya M, de Benetti C, et al. Comparative Cognitive Effects of Choreographed Exercise and Multimodal Physical Therapy in Older Adults with Amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment: Randomized Clinical Trial. J Alzheimers Dis. 2020;73(2):769-83.

33. Wei XH, Ji LL. Effect of handball training on cognitive ability in elderly with mild cognitive impairment. Neurosci Lett. 2014;566:98-101.

34. Vaughan S, Wallis M, Polit D, Steele M, Shum D, Morris N. The effects of multimodal exercise on cognitive and physical functioning and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in older women: a randomised controlled trial. Age Ageing. 2014;43(5):623-9.

35. Mehra S, Dadema T, Krose BJ, Visser B, Engelbert RH, Van Den Helder J, et al. Attitudes of Older Adults in a Group-Based Exercise Program Toward a Blended Intervention; A Focus-Group Study. Front Psychol. 2016;7:1827.

36. Li Z, Peng X, Xiang W, Han J, Li K. The effect of resistance training on cognitive function in the older adults: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2018;30(11):1259-73.

37. Coelho-Junior H, Marzetti E, Calvani R, Picca A, Arai H, Uchida M. Resistance training improves cognitive function in older adults with different cognitive status: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. Aging Ment Health. 2020:1-12.

38. Hong SG, Kim JH, Jun TW. Effects of 12-Week Resistance Exercise on Electroencephalogram Patterns and Cognitive Function in the Elderly With Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Clin J Sport Med. 2018;28(6):500-8.

39. Mollinedo Cardalda I, Lopez A, Cancela Carral JM. The effects of different types of physical exercise on physical and cognitive function in frail institutionalized older adults with mild to moderate cognitive impairment. A randomized controlled trial. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2019;83:223-30.

40. Biazus-Sehn LF, Schuch FB, Firth J, Stigger FS. Effects of physical exercise on cognitive function of older adults with mild cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2020;89:104048.

41. Law CK, Lam FM, Chung RC, Pang MY. Physical exercise attenuates cognitive decline and reduces behavioural problems in people with mild cognitive impairment and dementia: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2020;66(1):9-18.

42. Demurtas J, Schoene D, Torbahn G, Marengoni A, Grande G, Zou L, et al. Physical Activity and Exercise in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Dementia: An Umbrella Review of Intervention and Observational Studies. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2020;21(10):1415-22 e6.

43. Lee J. Effects of Aerobic and Resistance Exercise Interventions on Cognitive and Physiologic Adaptations for Older Adults with Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Control Trials. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(24).

44. Denton F, Power S, Waddell A, Birkett S, Duncan M, Harwood A, et al. Is It Really Home-Based? A Commentary on the Necessity for Accurate Definitions across Exercise and Physical Activity Programmes. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(17).

45. World Health Organization. Risk Reduction of Cognitive Decline and Dementia:WHO Guidelines. 2019. [Internet]. Available from:

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/312180/9789241550543-eng.pdf?ua=1

46. Nelson ME, Layne JE, Bernstein MJ, Nuernberger A, Castaneda C, Kaliton D, et al. The effects of multidimensional home-based exercise on functional performance in elderly people. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2004;59(2):154-60. 47. Steinberg M, Leoutsakos JM, Podewils LJ, Lyketsos CG. Evaluation of a homebased exercise program in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: the Maximizing Independence in Dementia (MIND) study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2009;24(7):680-5.

48. Lewis M, Peiris CL, Shields N. Long-term home and community-based exercise programs improve function in community-dwelling older people with cognitive impairment: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2017;63(1):23-9.

49. Hauer K, Ullrich P, Dutzi I, Beurskens R, Kern S, Bauer J, et al. Effects of
Standardized Home Training in Patients with Cognitive Impairment following Geriatric
Rehabilitation: A Randomized Controlled Pilot Study. Gerontology. 2017;63(6):495-506.

50. World Health Organization. Men, Ageing and Health: Achieving health across the life span. 2000. [Internet]. Available from:

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/66941/WHO_NMH_NPH_01.2.pdf

51. กรมกิจการผู้สูงอายุ. สถิติผู้สูงอายุของประเทศไทย 77 จังหวัด ณ วันที่ 31 ธันวาคม 2562.
 2563. [Internet]. Available from: <u>http://www.dop.go.th/download/knowledge/th1580099938-</u>
 <u>275 1.pdf</u>

52. Colon-Emeric CS, Whitson HE, Pavon J, Hoenig H. Functional decline in older adults. Am Fam Physician. 2013;88(6):388-94.

53. Senanarong V, Harnphadungkit K, Poungvarin N, Vannasaeng S, Chongwisal S, Chakorn T, et al. The Dementia and Disability Project in Thai Elderly: rational, design, methodology and early results. BMC Neurol. 2013;13:3.

54. Kiely KM. Cognitive Function. In: Michalos AC, editor. Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 2014. p. 974-8.

55. สถาบันประสาทวิทยา กรมการแพทย์. Clinical practice guideline: dementia. 2014. [Internet]. Available from: <u>http://doh.hpc.go.th/data/academic/57dementia.pdf</u>

56. Diamond A. Executive functions. Annu Rev Psychol. 2013;64:135-68.

57. Perry RJ, Hodges JR. Attention and executive deficits in Alzheimer's disease. A critical review. Brain. 1999;122 (Pt 3):383-404.

58. Ebaid D, Crewther SG, MacCalman K, Brown A, Crewther DP. Cognitive Processing Speed across the Lifespan: Beyond the Influence of Motor Speed. Front Aging

Neurosci. 2017;9:62.

59. Baddeley AD. The Psychology of Memory. 2004. In: The Essential Handbook of Memory Disorders for Clinicians [Internet]. Available from:

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.558.6604&rep=rep1&type=pdf.

60. Sheehan B. Assessment scales in dementia. Ther Adv Neurol Disord.2012;5(6):349-58.

61. Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bedirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, Collin I, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005;53(4):695-9.

62. Hemrungrojn S, Tangwongchai S, Charoenboon T, Panasawat M, Supasitthumrong T, Chaipresertsud P, et al. Use of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment Thai Version to Discriminate Amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment from Alzheimer's Disease and Healthy Controls: Machine Learning Results. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2021;50(2):183-94.

63. Ciesielska N, Sokolowski R, Mazur E, Podhorecka M, Polak-Szabela A, Kedziora-Kornatowska K. Is the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) test better suited than the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) in mild cognitive impairment (MCI) detection among people aged over 60? Meta-analysis. Psychiatr Pol. 2016;50(5):1039-52.

64. Dong YH, Lee WY, Basri NA, Collinson SL, Merchant RA, Venketasubramanian N, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment is superior to the Mini-Mental State Examination in detecting patients at higher risk of dementia. Int Psychogeriatr. 2012;24(11):1749-55.

65. McAlister C, Schmitter-Edgecombe M, Lamb R. Examination of Variables That May Affect the Relationship Between Cognition and Functional Status in Individuals with Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Meta-Analysis. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. 2016;31(2):123-47.

66. Zucchella C, Federico A, Martini A, Tinazzi M, Bartolo M, Tamburin S. Neuropsychological testing. Pract Neurol. 2018;18(3):227-37.

67. Tombaugh TN. Trail Making Test A and B: normative data stratified by age and education. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. 2004;19(2):203-14.

68. Fals-Stewart W. An Interrater Reliability Study of the Trail Making Test (Parts A and B). Perceptual and Motor Skills. 1992;74(1):39-42.

69. Matarazzo JD, Wiens AN, Matarazzo RG, Goldstein SG. Psychometric and clinical test-retest reliability of the Halstead impairment index in a sample of healthy, young, normal men. J Nerv Ment Dis. 1974;158(1):37-49.

70. Van der Elst W, Van Boxtel MP, Van Breukelen GJ, Jolles J. The Stroop color-word test: influence of age, sex, and education; and normative data for a large sample across the adult age range. Assessment. 2006;13(1):62-79.

71. Franzen MD, Tishelman AC, Sharp BH, Friedman AG. An investigation of the testretest reliability of the Stroop Color-Word Test across two intervals. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. 1987;2(3):265-72.

72. Waters GS, Caplan D. The reliability and stability of verbal working memory measures. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput. 2003;35(4):550-64.

73. Jaeger J. Digit Symbol Substitution Test: The Case for Sensitivity Over Specificity in Neuropsychological Testing. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2018;38(5):513-9.

74. Gaertner B, Wagner M, Luck T, Buttery AK, Fuchs J, Busch MA. Normative data for the Digit Symbol Substitution Test in a population-based sample aged 65-79 years: Results from the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Adults (DEGS1). Clin Neuropsychol. 2018;32(sup1):114-32.

75. Elwood RW. The Wechsler Memory Scale—Revised: Psychometric characteristics and clinical application. Neuropsychology Review. 1991;2(2):179-201.

76. Pinto E, Peters R. Literature review of the Clock Drawing Test as a tool for cognitive screening. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2009;27(3):201-13.

77. Nishiwaki Y, Breeze E, Smeeth L, Bulpitt CJ, Peters R, Fletcher AE. Validity of the Clock-Drawing Test as a screening tool for cognitive impairment in the elderly. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;160(8):797-807.

78. Schmidtke K, Olbrich S. The Clock Reading Test: validation of an instrument for the diagnosis of dementia and disorders of visuo-spatial cognition. Int Psychogeriatr. 2007;19(2):307-21.

79. Baiyewu O, Unverzagt FW, Lane KA, Gureje O, Ogunniyi A, Musick B, et al. The Stick Design test: a new measure of visuoconstructional ability. J Int Neuropsychol Soc.

2005;11(5):598-605.

de Paula JJ, Costa MV, Bocardi MB, Cortezzi M, De Moraes EN, Malloy-Diniz LF.
The Stick Design Test on the assessment of older adults with low formal education:
evidences of construct, criterion-related and ecological validity. Int Psychogeriatr.
2013;25(12):2057-65.

 Tombaugh TN, Kozak J, Rees L. Normative data stratified by age and education for two measures of verbal fluency: FAS and animal naming. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. 1999;14(2):167-77.

82. Ross TP, Calhoun E, Cox T, Wenner C, Kono W, Pleasant M. The reliability and validity of qualitative scores for the Controlled Oral Word Association Test. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. 2007;22(4):475-88.

de Paula JJ, Paiva GCC, Costa DS. Use of a modified version of the switching verbal fluency test for the assessment of cognitive flexibility. Dement Neuropsychol. 2015;9(3):258-64.

84. Olabarrieta-Landa L, Rivera D, Morlett-Paredes A, Jaimes-Bautista A, Garza MT, Galarza-del-Angel J, et al. Standard form of the Boston Naming Test: Normative data for the Latin American Spanish speaking adult population. NeuroRehabilitation. 2015;37(4):501-13.

85. Flanagan JL, Jackson ST. Test-retest reliability of three aphasia tests: performance of non-brain-damaged older adults. J Commun Disord. 1997;30(1):33-43.

86. Patterson JP. Token Test. In: Kreutzer J, DeLuca J, Caplan B, editors.

Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018. p. 1-3.

87. Roberts R, Knopman DS. Classification and epidemiology of MCI. Clin Geriatr Med. 2013;29(4):753-72.

88. Pessoa RMP, Bomfim AJL, Ferreira BLC, Chagas MHN. Diagnostic criteria and prevalence of mild cognitive impairment in older adults living in the community: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Clin Psychiatry. 2019;46(3):72-9.

89. Campbell NL, Unverzagt F, LaMantia MA, Khan BA, Boustani MA. Risk factors for

the progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia. Clin Geriatr Med. 2013;29(4):873-93.

 Kaliyaperumal D, Varadharajan VKS, Viswanathan V, Alagesan M. Effect of Age and Hypertension on Cognition: A Cross-sectional Study. J Clin Diagn Res.
 2018;12(9):OC05-OC8.

91. Gillis C, Mirzaei F, Potashman M, Ikram MA, Maserejian N. The incidence of mild cognitive impairment: A systematic review and data synthesis. Alzheimers Dement (Amst). 2019;11:248-56.

92. Kremen WS, Beck A, Elman JA, Gustavson DE, Reynolds CA, Tu XM, et al.
Influence of young adult cognitive ability and additional education on later-life cognition.
Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019;116(6):2021-6.

93. Aronow WS. Hypertension and cognitive impairment. Ann Transl Med.2017;5(12):259.

94. Hughes TM, Sink KM. Hypertension and Its Role in Cognitive Function: Current Evidence and Challenges for the Future. Am J Hypertens. 2016;29(2):149-57.

95. McGrath ER, Beiser AS, DeCarli C, Plourde KL, Vasan RS, Greenberg SM, et al.
Blood pressure from mid- to late life and risk of incident dementia. Neurology.
2017;89(24):2447-54.

96. Rawlings AM, Sharrett AR, Schneider AL, Coresh J, Albert M, Couper D, et al.
Diabetes in midlife and cognitive change over 20 years: a cohort study. Ann Intern Med.
2014;161(11):785-93.

97. Chen RH, Jiang XZ, Zhao XH, Qin YL, Gu Z, Gu PL, et al. Risk factors of mild cognitive impairment in middle aged patients with type 2 diabetes: a cross-section study. Ann Endocrinol (Paris). 2012;73(3):208-12.

98. Albanese E, Launer LJ, Egger M, Prince MJ, Giannakopoulos P, Wolters FJ, et al. Body mass index in midlife and dementia: Systematic review and meta-regression analysis of 589,649 men and women followed in longitudinal studies. Alzheimers Dement (Amst). 2017;8:165-78.

99. Peracino A, Pecorelli S. The Epidemiology of Cognitive Impairment in the Aging

Population: Implications for Hearing Loss. Audiol Neurootol. 2016;21 Suppl 1:3-9.

Singh-Manoux A, Dugravot A, Fournier A, Abell J, Ebmeier K, Kivimaki M, et al.
Trajectories of Depressive Symptoms Before Diagnosis of Dementia: A 28-Year Follow-up
Study. JAMA Psychiatry. 2017;74(7):712-8.

101. Sofi F, Valecchi D, Bacci D, Abbate R, Gensini GF, Casini A, et al. Physical activity and risk of cognitive decline: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. J Intern Med.
2011;269(1):107-17.

102. Swan GE, Lessov-Schlaggar CN. The effects of tobacco smoke and nicotine on cognition and the brain. Neuropsychol Rev. 2007;17(3):259-73.

103. Koch M, Fitzpatrick AL, Rapp SR, Nahin RL, Williamson JD, Lopez OL, et al.Alcohol Consumption and Risk of Dementia and Cognitive Decline Among Older AdultsWith or Without Mild Cognitive Impairment. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(9):e1910319.

104. Kuiper JS, Zuidersma M, Oude Voshaar RC, Zuidema SU, van den Heuvel ER, Stolk RP, et al. Social relationships and risk of dementia: A systematic review and metaanalysis of longitudinal cohort studies. Ageing Res Rev. 2015;22:39-57.

105. Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, Ames D, Ballard C, Banerjee S, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. Lancet. 2020;396(10248):413-46.

106. Langa KM, Levine DA. The diagnosis and management of mild cognitive impairment: a clinical review. JAMA. 2014;312(23):2551-61.

107. Petersen RC. Mild Cognitive Impairment. Continuum (Minneap Minn). 2016;22(2 Dementia):404-18.

108. Liew SL, Santarnecchi E, Buch ER, Cohen LG. Non-invasive brain stimulation in neurorehabilitation: local and distant effects for motor recovery. Front Hum Neurosci.2014;8:378.

109. Stonsaovapak C, Hemrungroj S, Terachinda P, Piravej K. Effect of Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation at the Right Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex on the Cognitive Function in Patients With Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Randomized Double-Blind Controlled Trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2020;101(8):1279-87. 110. Cui MY, Lin Y, Sheng JY, Zhang X, Cui RJ. Exercise Intervention Associated with Cognitive Improvement in Alzheimer's Disease. Neural Plast. 2018;2018:9234105.

111. Gates N, Valenzuela M. Cognitive exercise and its role in cognitive function in older adults. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2010;12(1):20-7.

112. Miotto EC, Batista AX, Simon SS, Hampstead BM. Neurophysiologic and Cognitive Changes Arising from Cognitive Training Interventions in Persons with Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Systematic Review. Neural Plast. 2018;2018:7301530.

Belleville S, Clement F, Mellah S, Gilbert B, Fontaine F, Gauthier S. Training-related
brain plasticity in subjects at risk of developing Alzheimer's disease. Brain. 2011;134(Pt
6):1623-34.

114. Hampstead BM, Stringer AY, Stilla RF, Giddens M, Sathian K. Mnemonic strategy training partially restores hippocampal activity in patients with mild cognitive impairment. Hippocampus. 2012;22(8):1652-8.

115. Rosen AC, Sugiura L, Kramer JH, Whitfield-Gabrieli S, Gabrieli JD. Cognitive training changes hippocampal function in mild cognitive impairment: a pilot study. J Alzheimers Dis. 2011;26 Suppl 3:349-57.

116. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep. 1985;100(2):126-31.

117. Sanders LMJ, Hortobagyi T, la Bastide-van Gemert S, van der Zee EA, van Heuvelen MJG. Dose-response relationship between exercise and cognitive function in older adults with and without cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2019;14(1):e0210036.

118. Kirk-Sanchez NJ, McGough EL. Physical exercise and cognitive performance in the elderly: current perspectives. Clin Interv Aging. 2014;9:51-62.

Monteggia LM, Barrot M, Powell CM, Berton O, Galanis V, Gemelli T, et al.Essential role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in adult hippocampal function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(29):10827-32.

120. Erickson KI, Prakash RS, Voss MW, Chaddock L, Heo S, McLaren M, et al. Brain-

derived neurotrophic factor is associated with age-related decline in hippocampal volume. J Neurosci. 2010;30(15):5368-75.

121. Rasmussen P, Brassard P, Adser H, Pedersen MV, Leick L, Hart E, et al. Evidence for a release of brain-derived neurotrophic factor from the brain during exercise. Exp Physiol. 2009;94(10):1062-9.

122. Seifert T, Brassard P, Wissenberg M, Rasmussen P, Nordby P, Stallknecht B, et al. Endurance training enhances BDNF release from the human brain. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2010;298(2):R372-7.

123. Langoni CDS, Resende TL, Barcellos AB, Cecchele B, Knob MS, Silva TDN, et al. Effect of Exercise on Cognition, Conditioning, Muscle Endurance, and Balance in Older Adults With Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Geriatr Phys Ther. 2019;42(2):E15-e22.

124. Yoon DH, Lee JY, Song W. Effects of Resistance Exercise Training on Cognitive Function and Physical Performance in Cognitive Frailty: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Nutr Health Aging. 2018;22(8):944-51.

125. Smolarek Ade C, Ferreira LH, Mascarenhas LP, McAnulty SR, Varela KD, Dangui MC, et al. The effects of strength training on cognitive performance in elderly women. Clin Interv Aging. 2016;11:749-54.

126. Sonntag WE, Ramsey M, Carter CS. Growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and their influence on cognitive aging. Ageing Res Rev. 2005;4(2):195-212.

127. Aleman A, Verhaar HJ, De Haan EH, De Vries WR, Samson MM, Drent ML, et al. Insulin-like growth factor-I and cognitive function in healthy older men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1999;84(2):471-5.

128. Tsai CL, Wang CH, Pan CY, Chen FC. The effects of long-term resistance exercise on the relationship between neurocognitive performance and GH, IGF-1, and homocysteine levels in the elderly. Front Behav Neurosci. 2015;9:23.

129. Yarrow JF, White LJ, McCoy SC, Borst SE. Training augments resistance exercise induced elevation of circulating brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Neurosci Lett. 2010;479(2):161-5.

130. Borst SE, De Hoyos DV, Garzarella L, Vincent K, Pollock BH, Lowenthal DT, et al. Effects of resistance training on insulin-like growth factor-I and IGF binding proteins. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2001;33(4):648-53.

131. Maki Y, Ura C, Yamaguchi T, Murai T, Isahai M, Kaiho A, et al. Effects of intervention using a community-based walking program for prevention of mental decline: a randomized controlled trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2012;60(3):505-10.

132. Lautenschlager NT, Cox KL, Flicker L, Foster JK, van Bockxmeer FM, Xiao J, et al. Effect of physical activity on cognitive function in older adults at risk for Alzheimer disease: a randomized trial. JAMA. 2008;300(9):1027-37.

133. Kemoun G, Thibaud M, Roumagne N, Carette P, Albinet C, Toussaint L, et al.Effects of a physical training programme on cognitive function and walking efficiency in elderly persons with dementia. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2010;29(2):109-14.

134. Yang SY, Shan CL, Qing H, Wang W, Zhu Y, Yin MM, et al. The Effects of Aerobic Exercise on Cognitive Function of Alzheimer's Disease Patients. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2015;14(10):1292-7.

135. Coetsee C, Terblanche E. The effect of three different exercise training modalities on cognitive and physical function in a healthy older population. Eur Rev Aging Phys Act. 2017;14:13.

136. Cai Y, Abrahamson K. Does Exercise Impact Cognitive Performance inCommunity-dwelling Older Adults with Mild Cognitive Impairment? A Systematic Review.Qual Prim Care. 2015;23(4):214-22.

137. Kimura K, Obuchi S, Arai T, Nagasawa H, Shiba Y, Watanabe S, et al. The influence of short-term strength training on health-related quality of life and executive cognitive function. J Physiol Anthropol. 2010;29(3):95-101.

138. Cassilhas RC, Viana VA, Grassmann V, Santos RT, Santos RF, Tufik S, et al. The impact of resistance exercise on the cognitive function of the elderly. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39(8):1401-7.

139. Coelho-Junior HJ, Goncalves IO, Sampaio RAC, Sampaio PYS, Lusa Cadore E, Calvani R, et al. Effects of Combined Resistance and Power Training on Cognitive Function

in Older Women: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(10).

140. Mavros Y, Gates N, Wilson GC, Jain N, Meiklejohn J, Brodaty H, et al. Mediation of Cognitive Function Improvements by Strength Gains After Resistance Training in Older Adults with Mild Cognitive Impairment: Outcomes of the Study of Mental and Resistance Training. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2017;65(3):550-9.

141. Hill KD, Hunter SW, Batchelor FA, Cavalheri V, Burton E. Individualized homebased exercise programs for older people to reduce falls and improve physical performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Maturitas. 2015;82(1):72-84.

142. King AC, Haskell WL, Taylor CB, Kraemer HC, DeBusk RF. Group- vs home-based exercise training in healthy older men and women. A community-based clinical trial. JAMA. 1991;266(11):1535-42.

143. Zhu Y, Wu H, Qi M, Wang S, Zhang Q, Zhou L, et al. Effects of a specially designed aerobic dance routine on mild cognitive impairment. Clin Interv Aging. 2018;13:1691-700.

144. Scherr J, Wolfarth B, Christle JW, Pressler A, Wagenpfeil S, Halle M. Associations between Borg's rating of perceived exertion and physiological measures of exercise intensity. European journal of applied physiology. 2013;113(1):147-55.

145. Scarpina F, Tagini S. The Stroop Color and Word Test. Front Psychol. 2017;8:557.

146. Blackburn HL, Benton AL. Revised administration and scoring of the digit span test. J Consult Psychol. 1957;21(2):139-43.

147. Chompukum P, Wongphaet P. The Normal Performance of the Trail Making Test -Thai Modification. J Thai Rehabili Med. 2007;17(1):26-30.

Chang MY, Davis AS. Neuropsychological Assessment. In: Goldstein S, Naglieri
 JA, editors. Encyclopedia of Child Behavior and Development. Boston, MA: Springer US;
 2011. p. 1013-4.

149. Shumway-Cook A, Brauer S, Woollacott M. Predicting the probability for falls in community-dwelling older adults using the Timed Up & Go Test. Phys Ther.2000;80(9):896-903.

150. Podsiadlo D, Richardson S. The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1991;39(2):142-8.

151. American Thoracic Society. ATS statement: guidelines for the six-minute walk test.Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2002;166(1):111-7.

152. Rikli RE, Jones CJ. Senior fitness test manual. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics;2001.

153. Portney LG. Foundations of clinical research : applications to practice. 3rd ed.. ed. Watkins MP, editor: Upper Saddle River, N.J. : Pearson/Prentice Hall; 2009.

154. Swain DP, American College of Sports M. ACSM's resource manual for Guidelines for exercise testing and prescription. 7th ed.. ed: Philadelphia : Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2014.

155. Borland E, Edgar C, Stomrud E, Cullen N, Hansson O, Palmqvist S. Clinically Relevant Changes for Cognitive Outcomes in Preclinical and Prodromal Cognitive Stages: Implications for Clinical Alzheimer Trials. Neurology. 2022;99(11):e1142-e53.

156. Byun K, Hyodo K, Suwabe K, Fukuie T, Ha MS, Damrongthai C, et al. Mild exercise improves executive function with increasing neural efficiency in the prefrontal cortex of older adults. Geroscience. 2024;46(1):309-25.

157. Tse AC, Wong TW, Lee PH. Effect of Low-intensity Exercise on Physical and
Cognitive Health in Older Adults: a Systematic Review. Sports Med Open. 2015;1(1):37.
158. Tamura M, Nemoto K, Kawaguchi A, Kato M, Arai T, Kakuma T, et al. Long-term
mild-intensity exercise regimen preserves prefrontal cortical volume against aging. Int J
Geriatr Psychiatry. 2015;30(7):686-94.

159. Zhang M, Jia J, Yang Y, Zhang L, Wang X. Effects of exercise interventions on cognitive functions in healthy populations: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ageing Research Reviews. 2023;92:102116.

160. Han C, Sun W, Zhang D, Xi X, Zhang R, Gong W. Effects of different aerobic exercises on the global cognitive function of the elderly with mild cognitive impairment: a meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2023;13(6):e067293.

161. Kanda K, Yoda T, Suzuki H, Okabe Y, Mori Y, Yamasaki K, et al. Effects of low-

intensity bodyweight training with slow movement on motor function in frail elderly patients: a prospective observational study. Environ Health Prev Med. 2018;23(1):4.

162. Hughes DC, Ellefsen S, Baar K. Adaptations to Endurance and Strength Training.Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2018;8(6).

163. Chen J, Zhou R, Feng Y, Cheng L. Molecular mechanisms of exercise contributing to tissue regeneration. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2022;7(1):383.

164. Shahabi S, Esfarjani F, Reisi J, Momenzadeh S, Jami MS, Zamani S. The Effects of8-Week Resistance and Endurance Trainings on Bone Strength Compared to IrisinInjection Protocol in Mice. Adv Biomed Res. 2021;10:40.

165. Lee D, Son JY, Ju HM, Won JH, Park SB, Yang WH. Effects of Individualized Low-Intensity Exercise and Its Duration on Recovery Ability in Adults. Healthcare (Basel, Switzerland). 2021;9(3).

166. Benarroch E. What Muscle Signals Mediate the Beneficial Effects of Exercise on Cognition? Neurology. 2022;99(7):298-304.

167. Nascimento CM, Pereira JR, de Andrade LP, Garuffi M, Talib LL, Forlenza OV, et al. Physical exercise in MCI elderly promotes reduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines and improvements on cognition and BDNF peripheral levels. Curr Alzheimer Res. 2014;11(8):799-805.

168. Nishiguchi S, Yamada M, Tanigawa T, Sekiyama K, Kawagoe T, Suzuki M, et al. A 12-Week Physical and Cognitive Exercise Program Can Improve Cognitive Function and Neural Efficiency in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2015;63(7):1355-63.

169. Lu Y, Bu FQ, Wang F, Liu L, Zhang S, Wang G, et al. Recent advances on the molecular mechanisms of exercise-induced improvements of cognitive dysfunction. Transl Neurodegener. 2023;12(1):9.

170. Li MY, Huang MM, Li SZ, Tao J, Zheng GH, Chen LD. The effects of aerobic exercise on the structure and function of DMN-related brain regions: a systematic review. Int J Neurosci. 2017;127(7):634-49.

171. Guiney H, Machado L. Benefits of regular aerobic exercise for executive

functioning in healthy populations. Psychon Bull Rev. 2013;20(1):73-86.

172. Munakata Y, Herd SA, Chatham CH, Depue BE, Banich MT, O'Reilly RC. A unified framework for inhibitory control. Trends Cogn Sci. 2011;15(10):453-9.

173. Herold F, Torpel A, Schega L, Muller NG. Functional and/or structural brain changes in response to resistance exercises and resistance training lead to cognitive improvements - a systematic review. Eur Rev Aging Phys Act. 2019;16:10.

174. Rolls ET. The cingulate cortex and limbic systems for emotion, action, and memory. Brain Struct Funct. 2019;224(9):3001-18.



APPENDIX

Exercise recording form

ID No
Group

แบบบันทึกการออกกำลังกาย

ชื่อ อายุ

คำชี้แจง

- ในการออกกำลังกาย กำหนดให้ออกกำลังกาย 5 วัน/สัปดาห์
- - "ไม่ได้ออก" หมายถึง ไม่ได้ออกกำลังกาย
- ในวันที่ออกกำลังกาย ให้บอกว่าทำได้ครบตามคู่มือหรือไม่ โดยทำเครื่องหมาย "√"ที่ช่อง "ครบ" หรือ "ไม่ครบ" โดยช่องที่เขียนว่า "ครบ" หมายถึง ออกกำลังกายครบตามคู่มือ
 - "ไม่ครบ" หมายถึง ออกกำลังกายไม่ครบตามคู่มือ
- 4. บอกระดับความเหนื่อยของตนเองหลังจากออกกำลังกายเสร็จ โดยให้ตั้งแต่ 6 20 คะแนน
 - "6" คือ รู้สึกสบาย เหมือนตอนนั่งพักเฉยๆ ไม่ได้ออกกำลังกาย
 - "20" คือ เหนื่อยมากที่สุดจนทนไม่ไหว
- ในกรณีที่ไม่ได้ออกกำลังกาย หรือ ออกกำลังกายไม่ครบระยะเวลาตามคู่มือ หรือ มีอาการ/ความผิดปกติใดๆ เกิดขึ้น ให้เขียนเหตุผลหรือปัญหาที่เกิดขึ้นในช่อง "หมายเหตุ" หรือ เขียนรายละเอียดตรงหมายเหตุด้านล่างของตาราง
- สามารถเขียนข้อมูลอื่นๆ เพิ่มเติมได้ เช่น ชีพจร (หากใช้นาฬิกาที่ใช้วัดชีพจรได้หรือมีเครื่องวัดระดับออกซิเจนปลายนิ้วที่บอกค่าชีพจรได้)
- 7. หากมีอาการ หรือ ความผิดปกติไดๆ เกิดขึ้น ในขณะเข้าร่วมโครงการวิจัย สามารถติดต่อผู้วิจัย นางสาวกฤษณา ครุฑนาค เบอร์โทรศัพท์ 0817523933

การให้คะแนนระดับความเหนื่อย

คะแนน	ระดับความรู้สึก
6	
7	รู้สึกสบาย เหมือนตอนนั่งพัก
8	
9	ไม่เหนื่อย เหมือนตอนเดินไปมาในบ้าน
10	
11	เริ่มรู้สึกเหนื่อย เริ่มหายใจเร็วขึ้น แต่ไม่มีอาการหายใจติดขัด
12	
13	ค่อนข้างเหนื่อย เหมือนตอนที่เดินเร็ว แต่ยังสามารถพูดคุยได้
14	
15	เหนื่อย เหมือนตอนที่เดินเร็วมากๆ พูดคุยต่อเนื่องไม่ได้ พูดได้ไม่กี่คำต้องหยุง
16	
17	เหนื่อยมาก ไม่สามารถพูดไปด้วยในขณะเดินเร็วมากๆ ได้
18	
19	เหนื่อยที่สุด ไม่สามารถเดินเร็วมากๆ ได้ ต้องหยุดพัก
20	
แบบบันทึกการออกกำลังกาย

สัปดาห์ที่1.....

วันที่	การออกกำลังกาย		ระดับ ขีพจร		เจร	หมายเหตุ		
	ออก	ไม่ได้ออก	ครบ	ไม่ครบ	ความเหนื่อย	ก่อน	หลัง	-
1 พ.ย. 2564	V		v		15	75	141	มีอาการเมื่อยเล็กน้อยหลังจากออกกำลังกาย
2 พ.ย. 2564	V		√		15	72	130	9
3 พ.ย. 2564		V						
4 พ.ย. 2564	V	$\gamma / 1$	v		13	74	128	
5 พ.ย. 2564	V		V		13	72	126	
6 พ.ย. 2564		\sim	7					
7 พ.ย. 2564	V	0			11			มีอาการปวดเข่าข้างขวาหลังจากออกกำลังกายไป ประมาณ 5 นาที และมีอาการปวดข้อศอกข้าง ขวาเมื่อออกกำลังกายในท่าที่ต้องงอ-เหยียดศอก

หมายเหตุ

วันที่ 6 พ.ย. 2564 ตอนเข้าไปซื้อกับข้าวที่ตลาด สะดุดฝาท่อ เข่าและแขนข้างขวากระแทกพื้น ลูกพาไปโรงพยาบาลไม่มีกระดูกหัก มีแผลและรอยฟกซ้ำที่เข่า และแขนบริเวณข้อศอกข้างขวา



แบบบันทึกการออกกำลังกาย สัปดาห์ที่

วันที่	การออกกำลังกาย			ระดับ	ซีพ	เจร	หมายเหตุ	
	ออก	ไม่ได้ออก	ครบ	ไม่ครบ	ความเหนื่อย	ก่อน	หลัง	

หมายเหตุ

Daily life activities recording form

	ID No
แบบบันทึกกิจกรรม	
ชื่ออายุ	

คำชี้แจง

- 1. ในหน้าแรก ให้เขียนกิจกรรมที่ทำเป็นประจำและบอกความถี่ที่ทำกิจกรรมนั้นใน 1 สัปดาห์
- ในหน้าถัดไป ให้เขียนวันที่ทุกวันแล้วให้บอกว่าวันนั้นได้ทำกิจกรรมเหมือนเดิมหรือไม่ โดยทำเครื่องหมาย "√" ที่ช่อง "เหมือนเดิม" หรือ "ไม่เหมือนเติม" โดยช่องที่เขียนว่า "เหมือนเดิม" หมายถึง ทำกิจกรรมเหมือนที่เขียนไว้ในหน้าแรก
 - "ไม่เหมือนเดิม" หมายถึง ทำกิจกรรมไม่เหมือนที่เขียนไว้ในหน้าแรก
- ในกรณีที่ทำเครื่องหมาย "√" ที่ช่อง "ไม่เหมือนเดิม" ให้เขียนกิจกรรมที่ไม่ได้ทำและ/หรือกิจกรรมที่ท่านอกเหนือไปจากที่เขียนไว้ในหน้าแรกที่ช่อง "กิจกรรมที่เปลี่ยนแปลงไป" และบอกสาเหตุหรืออาการที่เกิดขึ้นในช่อง "หมายเหตุ" หรือ เขียนรายละเอียดตรงหมายเหตุด้านล่างของตาราง
- หากมีอาการ หรือ ความผิดปกติใดๆ เกิดขึ้น ในขณะเข้าร่วมโครงการวิจัย สามารถติดต่อผู้วิจัย นางสาวกฤษณา ครุฑนาค เบอร์โทรศัพท์ 0817523933

แบบบันทึกกิจกรรม

กิจกรรมที่ทำเป็นประจำ	จำนวนครั้ง/สัปดาห์	หมายเหตุ
1. กวาดบ้าน	ทุกวัน	
2. ถูบ้าน	3 - 4 วัน/สัปดาห์	
3. ซักผ้า	3 - 4 วัน/สัปดาห์	
4. รีดผ้า	1 วัน/สัปดาห์	
5. ทำกับข้าว	ทุกวัน	
 อ่านหนังสือพิมพ์ 	ทุกวัน	
7. ฟังวิทยุ/ดูโทรทัศน์	ทุกวัน	
8. ไปซื้อกับข้าว/จ่ายตลาด	2 วัน/สับดาห์	
9. พูดคุยกับเพื่อนบ้าน	ทุกวัน	
10.	6	

แบบบันทึกกิจกรรม

สัปดาห์ที่1.....

วันที่	กิจกรรมที่ทำเป็นประจำ		กิจกรรมที่เปลี่ยนแปลงไป	หมายเหตุ
	เหมือนเดิม	ไม่เหมือนเดิม	(1)	
1 พ.ย. 2564	√			
2 พ.ย. 2564	√			9
3 พ.ย. 2564		$\int $	นัดทานข้าวกับเพื่อน และไปไหว้พระ	เดินเยละกว่าทุกวัน กลับบ้านมามีอาการเมื่อยขา เล็กน้อย
4 พ.ย. 2564	√			
5 พ.ย. 2564	V			6
6 พ.ย. 2564		×	ไม่ได้ทำงานบ้านเจง (กวาดบ้าน ถูบ้าน ซักผัว ทำกัษข้าง)	มีอาการปวดเข่าข้างขวา และข้อศอกข้างขวาเมื่อมีการ ขยับในท่าที่ต้องงอ-เหยียดเข่า/ศอก
7 พ.ย. 2564		v	ไม่ไส้ทั่วงานบ้านเอง (กวาดบ้าน ถูบ้าน ซักผ้า รีดผ้า ทำกับข้าว)	มีอาการปวดเข่าข้างขวา และข้อศอกข้างขวาเมื่อมีการ ขยับในท่าที่ต้องงอ-เหยียดเข่า/ศอก

หมายเหตุ

วันที่ 6 พ.ย. 2564 ตอนเข้าไปซื้อกับข้าวที่ตลาด สะดุดฝาท่อ เข่าและแขนข้างขวากระแทกพื้น ลูกพาไปโรงพยาบาลไม่มีกระดูกหัก มีแผลและรอยฟกซ้ำที่เข่า และแขนบริเวณข้อศอกข้างขวา



แบบบันทึกกิจกรรม

กิจกรรมที่ทำเป็นประจำ	จำนวนครั้ง/สัปดาห์	หมายเหตุ
1.		
2.		
3.		
4.		
5.		
6.		
7.		
8.		
9.		
10.		

แบบบันทึกกิจกรรม

สัปดาห์ที่

วันที่	กิจกรรมที่ทำเป็นประจำ เหมือนเดิม ไม่เหมือนเดิม		กิจกรรมที่เปลี่ยนแปลงไป	หมายเหตุ

หมายเหตุ



Data recording form

ID No
Group

แบบบันทึกข้อมูลของผู้เข้าร่วมโครงการวิจัย

คำขึ้แจง: กรุณาทำเครื่องหมาย √ ลงในช่อง 🗆 และกรอกข้อมูลลงในช่องว่างให้ตรงกับความเป็นจริง

<u>ส่วนที่ 1</u> ข้อมูลทั่วไปของอาสาสมัคร 1. ชื่อ (นาย. นาง นางสาว)

1.	ชอ (นาย, นาง, นาง	112)		ติเ	กุล
2.	ที่อยู่ปัจจุบันที่สามาร	ถติดต่	อได้		
3.	เบอร์โทรศัพท์บ้าน			เบอร์โทรด	รัพท์มือถือ
4.	อายุ	ปี (วัน	เกิด)
5.	สถานภาพ		โสด		สมรส
			หย่า		หม้าย
			แยกกันอยู่		
6.	การพักอาศัย		อยู่ตามลำพังคนเดีย	• 🗆	อยู่กับคู่สมรส
			อยู่กับบุตร หลาน		อาศัยอยู่กับผู้อื่น
7.	ระดับการศึกษา		ไม่ได้ศึกษา		ประถมศึกษา
			มัธยมศึกษาตอนต้น		มัธยมศึกษาตอนปลาย/ปวช.
			อนุปริญญา/ปวส.		ปริญญาตรี/ปวส.
			สูงกว่าปริญญาตรี		อื่นๆ
8.	อาชีพ/ลักษณะงาน		ครู/อาจารย์		
			บุคลากรทางการแพ	ทย์ ระบุ	
			สถาปนิก		
			วิศวกร		
			นักบัญชี		
			ธุรกิจส่วนตัว		
			งานด้านเกษตรกรรม	เ/กสิกรรม	
			งานราชการและรัฐวิ	สาหกิจ ระบุ .	
			ข่างฝีมือ ระบุ		
			รับจ้าง ระบุ		
			อื่นๆ ระบุ		
	ระยะเวลาที่ทำงานด้	งกล่าว	(ເຂບຸຈຳນວນປີ)	ປັ	
	ปัจจุบันท่านยังทำงา	นอยู่ท่	รือไม่ 🗌 ทำ	เงาน ระบุ	
			🗆 են	ได้ทำงาน	

หน้าที่รับผิดชอบปัจจุบัน	
9. มือข้างถนัด 🗌 ขวา	🗋 ซ้าย
10. โรคประจำตัว และ/หรือ ปัญหาทางสุขภาพ	🗆 តៃនា 🗆 ត
🗌 โรคสมองเสื่อม	
🗌 โรคทางระบบประสาท ระ	ญ
🗌 โรคทางระบบหลอดเลือดหัวใจ ระ	
🗌 โรคทางระบบกระดูกและกล้ามเนื้อ ระ	.v.
- รบกวนหรือจำกัดการออกกำลังกาย	. 🗌 ไม่จำกัด 🗌 จำกัด
🗌 ความบกพร่องทางการได้ยืน ระ	ญ
- ใส่เครื่องช่วยฟัง	🗌 `Līlai 🗌 ໃສ່
🔲 ความบกพร่องทางสายตา ระ	ญ
- การมองเห็น	้ 🗌 ไม่ซัด 🗌 ซัด
- ใต้แว่น	🗆 ોગીતં 🗆 ીતં
🔲 อื่นๆ ระบ	
11. เครื่องช่วยเดิน 🦳 ไม่ใช้	
🗌 ใช้ ระบุ	
12. การออกกำลังกาย 🔲 ไม่ออกกำลังกาย	
🗌 ออกกำลังกาย ระบุ	
ลักษณะการออกกำลังกาย ระยะเวลา	นาที/ครั้ง
ความถี่	ครั้ง/สัปดาห์
13. งานอดิเรก 🗌 ไม่มี	
🔲 มี ระบุ	
14. ประวัติการสูบบุหรี่ 🔲 ไม่สูบ	
🗌 เคยสูบ แต่เลิกมาแล้ว	
🗌 สูบระบุ จำนวน	บบ/วัน ระยะเวลาบี
15. ประวัติการดื่มสุรา 🔲 ไม่ดื่ม	
ั 🗌 เคยดื่ม แต่เลิกมาแล้ว	
🗌 ดื่ม ระบุ ความถี่	
16. ความต้นโลหิตขณะพัก	mmHg

<u>ส่วนที่ 2</u> แบบสอบถามสากลด้านการมีกิจกรรมทางกาย (Global Physical Activity Questionnaire –GPAQ)

	กิจกรรมทางกาย (Physical Activity)							
ต่อไป	นี้จะถามท่านเกี่ยวกับวะยะเวลาที่ท่านใช้ในการทำกิจกรรมทางกายรปแบบท่างๆ ในแต่ละสัปดาห์							
0381	การแกลงแต่กอานแนล่วนี้แข้วาท่านไปได้สิดว่าท่านเป็นสมพั่นกิจการบกรรเตลื่อนไหรร่างกรรมกรรมด้วยความ							
ก่อนอื่	นลองนึกถึงระยะเวลาที่ท่านใช้ในการทำงาน โดยนึกถึงงานที่ท่านต้องทำทั้งเป็นงานที่มีค่าอ้างและไม่มีค่าอ้า	ง การเรียน/การฝึกข้อม	เงานบ้าน					
ท่าสว	นตวัว/เพาะปลก ตกปลาหรือล่าสัตว์เพื่อเป็นอาหาร การหางานทำ (และตัวอย่างอื่นๆ)							
ในการ	เตลงข้อคำกามต่อไปนี้ "กิจการมพี่มีความหนักค่องท้างมาก" หมายถึงกิจการมพี่ต้องออกแรงมาก ซึ่งเป็นเ	หตุให้ต้องหายใจอี่ขึ้นมา	ก หวืออัตวา					
0000	หมองข้อใจเพิ่มสำนักอย่างหวอ และ "ถืออาวามที่มีสวามหน้องไหมตร" หมองก็เกิดอาวามต้อออแรงได้หอ 	อาง เป็นเหตุให้หายใจอี	รีมอีกน้อย					
1000	และอาหาสารเหลาของของ คลาก และ การการสารการสารการการการการการการการการการการการการกา		outer 1200					
4000		donoti	and					
-		H MOU	วทส					
nans	suturnswhenu (Activity at work)							
1	งานของท่านมีส่วนเกี่ยวข้องกับ "กิจกรรมที่มีความหนักค่อนข้างมาก" จนเป็นเหตุให้ต้องหายใจถีขึ้น	ใช่ 1	P1					
	มาก หรืออัตราการเต้นของหัวใจเพิ่มสูงขึ้นอย่างมาก เช่น งานยก/แบก/หามของหนัก งานขุดดิน หรือ	ไม่ไข่ 2						
	งานก่อสร้าง ติดต่อกันอย่างน้อย 10 นาที	(ถ้าไม่ใช่ ข้ามไปข้อ 4)						
2	ท่านต้องทำ "กิจกรรมที่มีความหนักค่อนข้างมาก" ซึ่งเป็นส่วนหนึ่งของงานของท่าน สัปดาห์ละก็วัน	จำนวนวัน 🗖 🗖	P2					
3	ท่านใช้เวลานานเพียงใดในการทำ "กิจกรรมที่มีครามหนักค่อนข้างมาก" ในการทำงานแต่ละวัน		P3					
		ขั้วโมง นาที	(a-b)					
4	งานของท่านมีส่วนเกี่ยวข้องกับ "กิจกรรมที่มีความหนักปานกลาง" ที่ทำให้ท่านมีการหายใจถี่ขึ้น	ਹਿਤਂ 1	P4					
	เล็กน้อย หรืออัตราการเด้นของหัวใจเพิ่มขึ้นเล็กน้อย เช่น เดินเร็วๆ หรือมีการยกของเบาๆ ติดต่อกัน	ไม่ใช่ 2						
	เป็นเวลาอย่างน้อย 10 นาที	(ถ้าไม่ใช่ ข้ามไปข้อ 7)						
5	ท่านต้องทำ "กิจกรรมที่มีความหนักปานกลาง" ซึ่งเป็นส่วนหนึ่งของงานของท่าน สัปดาห์ละกี่วัน	จำนวนวัน 🗖 🗆	P5					
6	ท่านใช้เวลานานพืชงใดในการทำ "กิจกรรมที่มีความหนักปานกลาง" ในการทำงานแต่ละวัน		P6					
		ชั่วโมง นาที	(a-b)					
การเดี	นทางไป-กลับ ที่ต่างๆ (Travel to and from places)							
คำอาร	แต่อไป จะไม่เกี่ยวกับกิจกรรมทางกายที่เกิดขึ้นในการทำงาน ตามที่ท่านได้ตอบไปแล้ว							
ดอนนี้	ใ จะขออามท่านอึงเรื่องการเดินทางตามปกติไปยังที่ต่างๆ ในชีวิตประจำวันของท่าน เช่น ไปทำงาน ไปซื้อข	อง ไปดลาด ไปวัด ฯลฯ						
7	ท่านเดินทางไป-กลับ ยังที่ต่างๆ โดยการเดิน หรือชี่จักรยาน ดิดต่อกันอย่างน้อย 10 นาที หรือไม่?	ੀਚਂ 1	P7					
		ไม่ใช่ 2						
		(ถ้าไม่ใช่ ข้ามไปข้อ 10)						
8	ในแต่ละสัปดาห์ มีกี่วันที่ท่านได้เดินหรือขี่จักรยานไป-กลับ ยังที่ต่างๆ ดิดต่อกันอย่างน้อย 10 นาที?	จำนวนวัน 🔲	P8					
9	ในแต่ละวัน ท่านใช้เวลาเพื่อการเดิน หรือขี่จักรยานนานพืยงใด?		P9					
		ชั่วโมง นาที	(a-b)					

กิจกร	กิจกรรมนั้นทนาการ (Recreational activities)								
คำถา	คำถามต่อไป จะไม่เกี่ยวกับกิจกรรมในการทำงานและการเดินทางที่ท่านได้ตอบไปแล้ว								
ตอนเ	ดอนนี้ จะถามท่านถึง กีฬา การฟิกเพื่อเสริมสร้างความแข็งแรง และกิจกรรมนั้นทนาการ(กิจกรรมยามว่าง)								
10	ท่านได้เล่นกีฬา หรือฝึกหนักเพื่อเสริมสร้างความแข็งแรง หรือทำกิจกรรมนั้นทนาการขามว่าง	ਚਿੰ	1	P10					
	ที่ต้องออกแรงหนักค่อนข้างมาก จนทำให้ท่านต้องหายใจอี่ขึ้น หรือหัวใจเต้นเร็วขึ้นอย่างมาก เช่น วิ่ง	ไม่ไข่	2						
	หรือเล่นฟุตบอล ดิดต่อกันอย่างน้อย 10 นาพี	(ถ้าไม่ใช่ ช่	่ามไปข้อ 13)						
11	ท่านได้เล่นกีฬา หรือฝึกหนักเพื่อเสริมสร้างความแข็งแรง หรือทำกิจกรรมนั้นทนาการขามว่าง	จำนวนวัน		P11					
	ที่ต้องออกแรงหนักค่อนข้างมาก สัปดาห์ละกี่วัน?								
12	ท่านได้เล่นกีฬา หรือฝึกหนักเพื่อเสริมสร้างความแข็งแรง หรือทำกิจกรรมนั้นทนาการขามว่าง	<u> </u>		P12					
	ที่ต้องออกแรงหนักค่อนข้างมาก นานเท่าไรในแต่ละรัน?	ขั้วโมง	นาที	(a-b)					
13	ท่านได้เล่นกีฬา หรือฝึกเพื่อเสริมสร้างความแข็งแรง หรือทำกิจกรรมนั้นหนาการยามว่าง	ਚਿੰ	1	P13					
	ที่ออกแรงปานกลาง ทำให้ท่านหายใจอี่ขึ้น หรือหัวใจเด้นเร็วขึ้นเล็กน้อย เช่น เดินเร็ว ซึ่จักรยาน ว่ายน้ำ	ไม่ไข่	2						
	ฟุตบอล ติดต่อกันอย่างน้อย 10 นาที	(ถ้าไม่ใช่ ช่	่ามไปข้อ 16)						
14	ท่านได้เล่นกีฬา หรือฝึกเพื่อเสริมสร้างความแข็งแรง หรือทำกิจกรรมนั้นทนาการยามว่าง	ຈຳນວນວັນ		P14					
	ที่ออกแรงปานกลาง สัปดาห์ละกี่วัน?								
15	ท่านได้เล่นกีฬา หรือฝึกเพื่อเสริมสร้างความแข็งแรง หรือทำกิจกรรมนั้นทนาการยามว่าง			P15					
	ที่ออกแรงปานกลาง นานเท่าไรในแต่ละวัน?	ชั่วโมง	นาที	(a-b)					
พฤติก	ารรมการนั้ง (Sedentary behavior)								
ต่อไป	้ เป็นคำถามเกี่ยวกับการนั่งๆ นอนๆ ทั้งที่บ้าน หรือที่ทำงาน การเดินทางไป-กลับยังที่ต่างๆ รรมถึงเวลาที่ไข้	ในการนั่งโต	ะทำงาน นั่งรุ	ุขกับเพื่อน					
นั่งอยู่	ในวถยนด์ วถประจำทาง วถไฟ นั่งอ่านหนังสือ นั่งเล่นไฟ นั่งดูโทวทัศน์ แต่ไม่รวมถึงเวลานอนหลับ								
16	ใบแต่ละวัน ท่านใช้เวลาไปกับการนั่งๆ นอนๆ นานเพียงใด?			P16					
		ขั้วโมง	นาที	(a-b)					

ID No
ครั้งที่
วันที่

<u>ส่วนที่ 3</u> แบบบันทึกคะแนนการทศสอบ Cognitive performance outcomes					
MoCA Total score					
тмт	Part A		. วินาที		
	Part B		. วินาที		
DST	Forward		-		
	Backward				
SCWT	Word (W)		-		
	Color (C)		-		
	Color-word (CW)				
	Interference score = CW - [(W \times C)/(W + C)]				
	Interference score				
SDT	Total score				
Physical performance outcomes					
TUG	Manual				
	Use hands to push up	🗌 ไม่ใช้		🗆 ใช้	
	Gait assistive devices	🗌 ไม่ใช้		🗆 ใช้	
		ระบุ			
6MWT ระยะทาง					
	Gait assistive devices	🗌 ไม่ใช้		🗆 ใช้	
		ระบุ			
	จำนวนครั้งที่หยุดพัก				
	ระยะเวลาที่หยุดพัก				
30-secind chair stand					
30-second arm curl					

Aerobic exercise program (example)



เดินเร็ว หรือ ย่ำเท้าอยู่กับที่ (ยกขาสูงระดับสะโพก)

น้ำมือแตะเข่าสลับซ้าย-ขวา



ชกแขนไปทางด้านหน้าสลับซ้าย-ขวา

ชกแขนไปทางด้านบนสลับซ้าย-ขวา



ชกแขนไปทางด้านข้างสลับซ้าย-ขวา





Source: University of Otago, Otago Medical School. Otago Exercise Programme to prevent falls in older adults: A home-based, individually tailored strength and balance retraining programme. 2003. Source of Images: Available from: https://californiamobility.com/21-chair-exercises-for-seniors-visual-guide/, https://evelo.com/blogs/learn/exercise-guide-for-seniors and https://www.workoutsprograms.com/workouts/



VITA